

JRC SCIENCE FOR POLICY REPORT

Mapping the Role of Raw Materials in Sustainable Development Goals

A preliminary analysis of links, monitoring indicators, and related policy initiatives

Mancini, L; Vidal Legaz, B; Vizzarri M.; Wittmer, D.; Grassi G.; Pennington, D.



This publication is a Science for Policy report by the Joint Research Centre (JRC), the European Commission's science and knowledge service. It aims to provide evidence-based scientific support to the European policymaking process. The scientific output expressed does not imply a policy position of the European Commission. Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use that might be made of this publication.

Contact information

Name: Lucia Mancini Address: via E.Fermi 2749 21027 Ispra (VA) Italy Email: lucia.mancini@ec.europa.eu Tel.: +39 0332785428

EU Science Hub https://ec.europa.eu/jrc

JRC112892

EUR 29595 EN

PDF ISBN 978-92-76-08385-6 ISSN 1831-9424 doi:10.2760/026725

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2019

© European Union, 2019

The reuse policy of the European Commission is implemented by Commission Decision 2011/833/EU of 12 December 2011 on the reuse of Commission documents (OJ L 330, 14.12.2011, p. 39). Reuse is authorised, provided the source of the document is acknowledged and its original meaning or message is not distorted. The European Commission shall not be liable for any consequence stemming from the reuse. For any use or reproduction of photos or other material that is not owned by the EU, permission must be sought directly from the copyright holders.

All content © European Union, 2019, except: page 9, figure 5, WWF 2012

How to cite this report: Mancini L., Vidal Legaz B., Vizzarri M., Wittmer D., Grassi G. Pennington D. *Mapping the Role of Raw Materials in Sustainable Development Goals*. A preliminary analysis of links, monitoring indicators, and related policy initiatives. EUR 29595 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2019 ISBN 978-92-76-08385-6, doi:10.2760/026725, JRC112892.

Contents

1	Introduction
	1.1 The Contribution of Raw Materials to SDGs4
	1.2 The European Strategy on Raw Materials5
	1.3 Raw Materials Scoreboard6
	1.4 The Structure of this Report7
2	Methodology8
3	Description of the supply chain9
4	Contribution of raw materials to the SDGs12
	4.1 SDG 1: End poverty in all its forms everywhere13
	4.2 SDG 2: End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition, and promote sustainable agriculture
	4.3 SDG 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages
	4.4 SDG 4: Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all
	4.5 SDG 5: Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls
	4.6 SDG 6: Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all21
	4.7 SDG 7: Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable, and modern energy for all 23
	4.8 SDG 8: Promote sustained, inclusive, and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all25
	4.9 SDG 9: Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and fostering innovation27
	4.10 SDG 10: Reduce inequality within and among countries
	4.11 SDG 11: Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable
	4.12 SDG 12: Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns
	4.13 SDG 13: Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts37
	4.14 SDG 14: Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas, and marine resources for sustainable development
	4.15 SDG 15: Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss
	4.16 SDG 16: Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels
	4.17 SDG 17: Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize the Global Partnership for Sustainable Development
5	Role of European Policies

5.1 Raw Materials Initiative	49			
5.2 European Innovation Partnership on Raw Materials	50			
5.3 Resource efficiency and Circular Economy Action Plan	51			
5.4 Conflict Minerals Regulation	53			
5.5 European Pillar of Social Rights	53			
5.6 Forest Strategy	54			
5.7 Industrial policy	55			
5.8 2030 Climate and Energy Framework	55			
6 Analysis of SDGs and RM Scoreboard indicators	58			
7 Conclusions	60			
References				
List of figures				
List of tables	70			

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the colleagues of the raw materials team for their feedback and suggestions in the development of the analysis. We are particularly grateful to Jaco Huisman, Tamas Hamor, Gian Andrea Blengini, Fabrice Mathieux, Fulvio Ardente, Konstantinos Georgitzikis, Paolo Tecchio, and Cynthia E. Latunussa (JRC D3, Land Resources Unit). We would also like to thank Luca Montanarella, Serenella Sala, and Frank Neher for reviewing this report.

Authors

Lucia Mancini, Land Resources Unit Beatriz Vidal Legaz, Land Resources Unit Matteo Vizzarri, Bio-economy Unit Dominic Wittmer, Land Resources Unit Giacomo Grassi, Bio-economy Unit David Pennington, Land Resources Unit

Executive summary

The UN 2030 Agenda (UN General Assembly, 2015) established 17 Goals for implementing sustainable development by acknowledging the interdependency of society, environment, and economy, and by strengthening peaceful societies. The EU has a well-established development policy in place and the New European Consensus on Development means it has settled a shared vision and framework for action in development cooperation (European Union, 2017a). Through this document, the EU has aligned itself to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) framework. Moreover, a set of indicators to monitor the SDGs at EU level has been published (Eurostat, 2017a).

Raw materials (RM) are ubiquitous in modern societies and essential to economic growth and well-being, and they contribute to the SDGs in different ways. The production of materials can generate severe environmental and social impacts, especially in developing and weak governance countries. However, their use for example in high-tech applications, transport and energy infrastructures, the construction sector, medical devices etc. demonstrates their crucial role for economic development and human well-being. The EU strategy on non-energy, non-agricultural raw materials tackles the challenges related to these sectors, promoting a secure and sustainable supply from domestic sources and international markets, and increasing the contribution of secondary materials. In support of this policy and in cooperation with DG GROW, the Joint Research Centre is developing an EU knowledge base that comprises the Raw Materials Information System and the Raw Materials Scoreboard. The latter is a collection of indicators on several aspects relating to the RM sectors, encompassing economic, environmental, and social considerations as well as aspects related to governance and the security of supply.

This study scrutinizes how raw materials hinder or contribute to the SDGs, and is based on a review of the literature and expert opinion. It considers the whole value chain (extraction, manufacturing, use, end-of-life) of biotic and abiotic materials.

The twofold role of raw materials emerges in many cases. For instance, production of raw materials results in greenhouse gas emissions, but their use in low-carbon energy technologies contributes to the fight against climate change. Extraction of materials and manufacturing can also pollute water bodies and create water stress, but some materials are essential for environmental technologies and water treatment techniques.

The outcome of the analysis stresses the potential of forestry to contribute to several SDGs, especially in relation to climate and biodiversity. However, it also highlights the importance of sustainable forest management to maintain the provisioning services of ecosystems. Overall, addressing interlinkages and trade-offs between different SDGs and the various phases of the supply chains appear to be crucial in promoting sustainable development.

This study also provides linkages with some current European policies and actions related to the sustainability of raw materials from extraction to consumption. In addition, it compares the indicators of the SDG framework with those present in the Raw Materials Scoreboard, an EC publication monitoring the main challenges of raw materials production in the EU.

1 Introduction

The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) have set out a vision for a future global society based on sustainability principles (UN General Assembly, 2015). The 17 SDGs (fig. 1) and 169 targets that compose the SDGs Agenda cover the ecological, economic, and social dimensions of sustainability, providing principles and a reference for national and local policy. The UN Agenda calls both governments and the private sector to engage in implementing the SDGs: companies are encouraged to commit to improving the sustainability of production processes and policy makers at all levels are asked to align their strategies to the Agenda's sustainable development principles.



Figure 1 UN Sustainable Development Goals

The European Union has actively contributed to the development of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, and the previous Millennium Development Goals which expired at the end of 2015. In the Commission communication "A Global Partnership for Poverty Eradication and Sustainable Development after 2015" (EC, 2015a) and in the Council conclusions on "a New Global Partnership for Poverty Eradication and Sustainable Development after 2015" (EC, 2015a) and Sustainable Development after 2015" (EC, 2015a), the EU has expressed its position on the adoption of the Agenda. In particular, the Council conclusions concern the guiding principles for the partnership, its monitoring, accountability, and review.

The EU has a well-established development policy in place based on the EU treaties¹ and the 2006 Consensus on Development (European Union, 2006). Since the adoption of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, the EU has expressed a vision for the development policy in a new European Consensus on Development (European Union, 2017a) aligning and integrating the 17 SDGs in the existing EU policy framework. The new Consensus on Development also supports the Global Strategy on the EU's Foreign and Security Policy presented by the High Representative in June 2016 (European Union, 2016).

¹ https://europa.eu/european-union/law/treaties_en

The Communication "Next steps for a Sustainable European future" (EC, 2016a) and the relative Staff Working Document (EC, 2016b) give an overview of the existing European initiatives relating to the achievement of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.

In order to monitor the progress towards the SDGs, Eurostat has published a set of 100 indicators for the European context, which cover the 17 SDGs. 41 of them are multipurpose so they are used to monitor more than one SDG. The set of indicators is subject to periodical review in line with future policy developments and taking into account new indicators as they become available. The first assessment of progress towards the SDGs, referring to the previous 5 years, was published in 2017 (Eurostat, 2017b).

1.1 The Contribution of Raw Materials to SDGs

The UN SDGs framework does not include an explicit SDG on raw materials. However, raw materials are essential for the accomplishment of the SDGs, and can directly or indirectly contribute to all SDGs. As highlighted in the "European strategic long-term vision for a prosperous, modern, competitive and climate neutral economy", raw materials are indispensable enablers for carbon-neutral solutions in all sectors of the economy (EC, 2018c).

In preliminary studies, Mancini and Sala (2018) analysed the contribution of the mining sector to the SDGs. Similarly, a report by the UN and other international organizations shows how mining companies could contribute to the achievement of SDGs (UNDP et al., 2016). The International Council on Mining & Metals (ICMM) analysed the relevance of each SDG for the mining sector, providing guidance on how negative impacts can be minimized and positive contributions maximized². An ongoing study by the United Nations Environment Programme International Resources Panel assesses mineral resource governance and makes the links to the SDGs explicit³ (IRP-UNEP, forthcoming). The production of metals and minerals can have negative environmental and social impacts. At the same time, their use in high-tech applications or in other sectors like construction, transport systems etc. allows many human needs to be fulfilled, and can contribute to the achievement of several SDGs.

Forests positively contribute to SDGs through among other things biodiversity conservation, climate change mitigation, and provision of food and energy (Seymour and Busch, 2016). Of the others, wood is an essential raw material in the EU (e.g. wood-based products, bio-based products, and bio-energy). Understanding the trade-offs between wood provision and other goods and services, as well as maintaining the wood supply-demand balance, is fundamental to ensuring sustainability in wood production and consumption (EC, 2018a). Therefore, the forest sector faces challenges in order not to threaten these benefits and at the same time provide opportunities in terms of economic growth and employment.

The primary objective of this report is to understand how raw materials affect or contribute to the SDGs in the various phases of the supply chain. Building on previous studies, we extend the analysis of links and potential contribution of raw materials to the whole supply chain, therefore taking into account the extraction phase (mining and forestry), the manufacturing of biotic and abiotic raw materials, their use in final products, and the end of life phase. We highlight potential impacts and contributions of raw materials to each SDG, describing relevant issues of concern. We also mention the indicators used to monitor the SDGs that are relevant to the raw materials sectors, considering both the UN monitoring framework (UN General Assembly, 2017) and the Eurostat indicators' set for the SDGs (Eurostat, 2017a).

² <u>https://www.icmm.com/sdgs</u> [Accessed on 02/08/2018]

³ A summary of this report is available at: <u>http://www.resourcepanel.org/reports/mineral-resource-governance-21st-century</u> [Accessed on 03/04/2019]

1.2 The European Strategy on Raw Materials

The Raw Materials Initiative (RMI) (EC, 2008) recognises that raw materials are the building blocks of the economy and consequently essential for the functioning of European industries (e.g. construction, chemicals, automotive, aerospace, defence, renewable energy, and the machinery and equipment sectors). The RMI has three pillars, which aim to ensure (1) the fair and sustainable supply of raw materials from global markets; (2) the sustainable supply of raw materials within the EU; and (3) resource efficiency and supply of secondary materials through recycling. The RMI focuses on non-energy, nonagricultural materials that are both abiotic (such as metals, non-metallic minerals, and industrial minerals) and biotic (such as wood, paper, cork, and natural rubber). Some of these materials are considered to be 'critical' (EC, 2017a) since they are very important to the EU economy while at the same time they show risk of supply disruption due to such things as poor governance conditions in supplying countries or the setting-up of trade restrictions. Therefore, reliable and undistorted access to raw materials is increasingly becoming an important factor in the competitiveness of the EU economy. Moreover, some materials are critical in the deployment of low-carbon and green technologies, which are essential to meet the climate and energy targets.

The EC promotes the competitiveness of industries producing raw materials. To this end, the European Innovation Partnership on Raw Materials (EIP-RM)⁴ has been established as a stakeholders' platform to reach the objectives of the RMI through research and innovation projects.

In order to count on a sound and continuously updated knowledge base for the support of the raw materials-related EU policies, the European Commission is developing the Raw Materials Information System (EC RMIS 2.0)⁵ (fig. 2). The EC RMIS is a reference webbased knowledge platform on non-fuel, non-agricultural raw materials from primary (e.g. extracted by mining), and secondary sources (e.g. recycled, recovered from mining waste). It supports EU policy, gathering and organizing data and information on raw materials covering the EU and putting the EU in a global context. Moreover, knowledge from different sources like Member States, industry representatives, and other stakeholders will be available in the RMIS.

⁴<u>https://ec.europa.eu/growth/tools-databases/eip-raw-materials/en/content/european-innovation-partnership-eip-raw-materials</u>

⁵ <u>http://rmis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/</u>



Figure 2 RMIS 2.0 structure⁶

1.3 Raw Materials Scoreboard

The European Commission produces biannual updates of the Raw Materials (RM) Scoreboard (EC, 2016c). The RM Scoreboard is a monitoring tool that provides reference information and data to follow on the challenges of the EU raw materials industry along their value chain. These challenges cover a comprehensive set of topics such as framework conditions of mining, materials' trade flows and end-uses, recycling, and environmental and social sustainability.

The RM Scoreboard is an initiative of the European Innovation Partnership on Raw Materials (EIP-RM)⁷ that aims to provide information for monitoring relevant industrial policies (EC, 2010a) and initiatives on raw materials. The objective of this policy area is to ensure the sustainable supply of raw materials to the European economy whilst increasing benefits to society as a whole. It is prepared in collaboration between DG Internal Market, Industry, Entrepreneurship and SMEs and the Joint Research Centre. Moreover, the Scoreboard presents information that can be used for key/overarching messages in policy/decision-making in a variety of areas (e.g. the monitoring of the circular economy).

The Scoreboard consists of a set of indicators (24 in 2016 and 26 in the 2018 version - published in November 2018) grouped into five thematic clusters: the global context, competitiveness and innovation, framework conditions for mining, circular economy and recycling, and environmental and social sustainability (fig. 3). All indicators are based on best-available data, consider the 'RACER criteria' (relevant, accepted, credible, easy to compute and understand, and robust), and are the result of an iterative and participatory process with the involvement of public and private stakeholders and policy makers (around 30 experts representing a balanced range of interests).

⁶ <u>http://rmis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/</u>

⁷<u>https://ec.europa.eu/growth/tools-databases/eip-raw-materials/en/content/european-innovation-partnership-eip-raw-materials</u>



Figure 3 Indicators and thematic clusters of the 2016 Raw Materials Scoreboard⁸.

1.4 The Structure of this Report

The analysis presented in this report encompasses three main areas:

- The contribution of raw materials to each SDG, based on a review of the literature and expert opinions⁹
- The role of EU policies on resource efficiency and circular economy, the forest sector, industrial strategy, conflict minerals, climate change, and social rights.
- The comparison of indicators in the RM Scoreboard with correspondent SD goals and indicators

Section 2 explains the methodology, Section 3 describes the various steps of the value chain under consideration, and Section 4 presents relevant issues of concern for each SDG and the role of raw materials in the various supply chain stages. It also highlights the indicators used in the sets under consideration and the relevant EU policies. Section 5 shows examples of policies of interest for the raw materials sectors, and their contribution to the SDGs. Section 6 analyses monitoring indicators used in the RM Scoreboard and compares them with those used in the SDG framework. The last section presents conclusions and recommendations for enhancing the capacity of the RM Scoreboard to monitor SDG-related aspects.

⁸ Available at: http://rmis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/?page=scoreboard

⁹ With the exception of forestry (considered as a whole sector, producing a variety of products), the analysis focuses on non-energy, non-agricultural raw materials.

2 Methodology

The analysis presented in this report is partially based on previous studies which focused on the mining sector (Mancini and Sala 2018; Mancini et al. 2019). In order to expand this analysis to other raw material supply chain stages (extractive, manufacturing, use, end-of-life), the literature was reviewed and evidence gathered on potential impacts and contributions to each SDG.

Different types of sources have been consulted including predominantly scientific literature, reports from international organizations (such as the United Nations, the International Labour Organization (ILO), the World Bank, etc.), and reports from European institutions (e.g. Joint Research Centre (JRC), European Environmental Agency (EEA), European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (OSHA)). In some cases, reports by industry associations and NGOs have been also cited.

Two studies have been used several times along the analysis: the UNDP et al. report on mining and SDGs (UNDP et al., 2016) and the UNEP/IRP report on Minerals Governance (IRP-UNEP, forthcoming). The results of the literature review were submitted for expert opinion, and the relevance of the topics presented was discussed. The experts group included JRC researchers in the Raw Materials team of Unit D3 Land Resources and from other JRC Units.

Relevant indicators for each SDG have been highlighted, taking into account the UN monitoring framework on SDGs (UN General Assembly, 2017) and the Eurostat indicators set for monitoring the SDGs (Eurostat, 2017a). Sometimes, the highlighted issues of concern are not covered by any indicator, and therefore corresponding targets are referred to.

Each SDG chapter also mentions the main EU policies on that topic. Some of these policies are discussed in more detail in subsequent sections. The EU policies under consideration are those relating to economic, environmental, and social considerations relevant to raw materials. Some of them have a crosscutting approach, and embrace a broad range of aspects; others focus on more specific issues. Their contribution to SDGs is based on the analysis of their main objectives and expected outcomes. The assignment of the raw materials' contribution to each SDG is indicative and not exhaustive.

Among the policy initiatives under consideration, the contribution of the European Innovation Partnership (EIP) on Raw Materials to the SDGs is discussed. Specifically, the contribution of the voluntary initiatives developed by multiple stakeholders in the field of raw materials to the SDGs is analysed (the so-called commitments) (EC, 2017b). This information comes from the annual monitoring survey of the commitments which evaluates progress towards the objectives.

The analysis of correspondences between SDGs and the RM Scoreboard took account of both the 2016 and the 2018 editions (EC, 2018b, 2016c).

3 Description of the supply chain

The steps of the raw materials supply chain investigated in this analysis include both economic sectors (e.g. mining, forestry, manufacturing, etc.) and consumption-related activities (e.g. use, product disposal, etc.).

Firstly, there is a fundamental difference between abiotic and biotic materials. As outlined in Crenna et al. (2018), biotic resources are intrinsically renewable and therefore theoretically available in the future. However, if the carrying capacity of the ecosystems responsible for their provision is exceeded (when resources are extracted at a rate higher than their regeneration capacity, i.e., are overexploited) they can be also depleted (for instance, when commercially valuable species are harvested to extinction). Abiotic resources are non-renewable in a human timescale, and are therefore usually perceived as a finite stock. However, anthropogenic stocks (i.e. resulting from or produced by human beings) and recyclability can increase their availability.

The supply of raw materials involves various production stages which differ depending on the material under consideration, and can be very complex given the number of phases, activities, and actors involved.

For instance, in the case of wood-based products (fig. 4), after the forest management and harvesting, logs go into a sawmill where they are de-limbed and de-barked, graded and sorted into pieces before being cut into boards, dried, packaged and sent to processing. The boards will then be refined into various bespoke products, to be traded and used in joinery, and to manufacture a variety of timber-based components and products. After its use as material, the entire wood product (or its parts or components) can be used for a new product (reuse). It can be recycled or utilized in a cascading chain, meaning the use of wooden material for a lower grade purpose and a change in physical properties (e.g., wood products for particle boards or paper) (Jungmeier et al., 2001; Mair and Stern, 2017).



Figure 4 The forest products value chain (Source: WWF, 2012)

The supply chain in the case of metals and minerals starts with the exploration phase, which includes prospecting, detailed mapping, digging of trenches, geochemical and geophysical surveys, and preliminary drilling to identify the mineral deposit and determine its economic potential. After a design and planning stage, the construction of the mining site may occur. It involves building roads, processing facilities, employees housing, and other facilities as well as setting up environmental management systems. The mining production phase can be underground or surface, and consists of extracting the ore from rock using a variety of tools and machinery. Once a mining site has been exhausted of reserves, mine site closure occurs, with the dismantling of all facilities on the property. The reclamation stage of the mining site is the process of restoring land to a natural or economically usable state.

After the ore is extracted from the earth's crust, the metal-bearing minerals are separated from the material to form a concentrate in a process known as milling. Once the metalbearing minerals are separated from waste materials to form a concentrate, the metal content must be removed and refined. A number of methods can be used to do this, one of the most common being smelting. In this phase, the concentrate is melted in a furnace in order to extract the metal. The material processing (metallurgical) phase also includes the mixing of metals to produce alloys with improved properties. In a next step, the metal manufacturing phase transforms unwrought metals into semi-finished products like sheets, foils, tubes, pipes etc. which will be purchased by downstream manufacturing industries for the production of components and final products. After use, metals contained in these products can often be recovered and recycled to produce secondary materials, which can in turn be used as inputs in manufacturing. Recovery and recycling rates vary from one material to another.

J-28				
Exploration Destraction	Processing	Manufacture	Use	Collecting and Recycling
Primary materials	Processed materials			
Bauxite	Refined alumina Refractory-grade	Primary aluminium production eHigh-alumina	Aluminiu m production Befractories	
	•Calcined bauxite	•High-alumina cement •High-alumina cement •Abrasives •Chemicals	•Cement •Abrasives •Chemicals	

As an example, Fig. 5 illustrates the aluminium value chain.

Figure 5 Aluminium supply chain (Source: RMIS¹⁰)

A simplified supply chain is taken into account in this study, including the following main phases and economic sectors:

- Extraction phase:
 - *Mining and quarrying*: extraction of stone or other materials from a quarry, and extraction of valuable minerals or other geogenic materials (usually extracted from an ore body, lode, vein, seam, reef, or placer deposits).

¹⁰ http://rmis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/?page=rm-profiles#/Aluminium

 Forestry (sustainable forest management¹¹): processes of production and extraction of harvested wood products¹² from forest ecosystems by silvicultural activities, felling, harvesting operations, extraction, and loading.

• Manufacturing phase:

- Non-metallic minerals, used for construction (e.g. cement, concrete, glass, aggregates, etc.); as fertilizers (phosphate, nitrogen, etc.); or for ornamental scopes (e.g. marble, etc.).
- Metal production, encompassing the activities of smelting or refining ferrous, non-ferrous, and precious metals from ore or scrap, using metallurgic techniques. It also includes the production of metal alloys and super-alloys by adding certain chemical elements to pure metals.
- Wood and wood products manufacturing sector, including the first processing stages of sawmilling and planing of wood and the downstream activity of the manufacture of products made of wood, cork, straw, and plaiting materials.
- *Paper and paper products manufacturing*, comprising companies that use wood as raw material and produce pulp, paper, paperboard, and other cellulose-based products.
- Other industries processing biotic materials like natural rubber, cork, etc.
- **Use phase**: raw materials in the form of semi-finished products and components are supplied to downstream industries to manufacture final goods and services for consumers. Products incorporate a large variety of materials which are not even visible to the consumers in some cases (e.g. in electronics). The final use of products derived from abiotic or biotic raw materials is referred to in the analysis presented in this paper. The use of specific materials in products (replacement, substitution) can for example impact on the environmental performance of the use phase. The way products are designed will also determine the performance of the use phase.
- **End-of-life**: this phase includes different activities until the final product disposal, i.e. waste collection, energy recovery, and recycling. Waste flows not only occur after product use phase but also in previous steps of the supply chain (e.g. extractive waste). The way products are managed when they reach their end-of-life will for example determine their environmental impact and their economic potential. End-of-life management will be determined by the economic and technical feasibility of these processes, which also depends on how the product has been designed.

¹¹ FAO already provides a series of modules (e.g. agroforestry, forest and landscape restoration, communitybased forestry) to support the implementation of sustainable forest management (SFM). The relevance of forest activities and processes for each SDG is available in the SFM toolbox (online at: <u>http://www.fao.org/sustainable-forest-management/toolbox/modules/en/</u>).

¹² In the case of forest resources, the raw materials are not limited to the harvested wood products but also for example include non-timber forest products (fruits, berries, mushrooms, truffles, etc.), cork, and rubber.

4 Contribution of raw materials to the SDGs

The contributions of raw materials to SDGs in each phase of the supply chain are identified in this chapter by considering the reference indicators under each SDG monitored by both the UN and in the Eurostat frameworks. The contribution may be positive or negative (i.e. have an adverse impact), and may also be direct or indirect. Often, it is possible for the same raw materials activity to have both positive and negative impacts, and they largely depend on the performance of companies, sectors, etc., legislation and governance of countries, as well as consumer behaviour. The details of the underlying analysis are provided below, specifying the links to indicators considered by the UN and Eurostat monitoring frameworks. The coverage of SDGs by the Raw Materials Scoreboard and relevant related EU policies is also mentioned below.



Figure 6 Potential contributions of raw materials to the SDGs along the supply chain. Chapter 4 describes the links with each SDG and related indicators in detail

4.1 SDG 1: End poverty in all its forms everywhere



CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES

• (*potential positive contributions*) Raw material sectors can stimulate the local economy, creating employment and also increase population income and business opportunities in other sectors.

MINING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) The role of the mining sector in creating wealth and prosperity has been studied extensively in the literature as reflected in the scholarly debate on the "resource curse" theory. The "resource curse" is based on the observation that some countries rich in natural resources tend to grow more slowly than resource-poor countries (Anderson, 1998; Mikesell, 1997; Sachs and Warner, 2001). The "resource curse" hypothesis has been widely analysed and empirically tested in both developing and developed countries, with diverging conclusions being drawn in the literature. Some authors agree on the role of institutions and governance in determining the various outcomes (e.g., Mehlum et al., 2006; van der Ploeg, 2011).

• (potential adverse impacts) Mining projects can exacerbate land competition. For instance, the limited access to land for the rural population especially in developing countries can have negative impacts on livelihood and consequent food insecurity, endangering the well-being of the local population and leading to their impoverishment (e.g. Mancini and Sala, 2018; Owen and Kemp, 2015). [Indicator UN 1.4.2]

FORESTRY

• (*potential positive contributions*) Wood and non-wood forest products contribute to the livelihood of local communities (i.e. subsistence income), depending on market characteristics, availability of forest resources (e.g. in India; Belcher et al., 2015), ethnic/locational combinations, and remoteness (e.g. in Peru; Porro et al., 2015).

• (*potential positive contributions*) Community forestry improves and secures property and use rights and access to resources for rural poor households, especially regarding low value forest products (Anderson et al., 2015). [Indicator UN 1.4.2]

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - 1.4.2 Proportion of adult population with secure tenure rights to land, with legally recognized documentation, and who perceive their rights to be secure, by sex and by type of tenure

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

 Value added and jobs in the raw materials sectors (indicator 7 'Value added and jobs', EC 2016; EC 2018a).

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 8 Decent work and economic growth
- SDG 2 Zero hunger

- Establishing a European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2017) 250 final
- Monitoring the implementation of the European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2018) 130 final
- A new EU Forest Strategy: for forests and the forest-based sector, COM(2013) 659 final

4.2 SDG 2: End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition, and promote sustainable agriculture



MINING AND MANUFACTURING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) In the case of the mining industry, competition with the agricultural sector for water and land resources, and pollution of water bodies and farming land can affect food security. This is especially the case in local communities directly dependent on natural resources for their livelihood (e.g. Kitula 2006; Kumah 2006). [Indicator UN 2.4.1]

FORESTRY

• (*potential positive contributions*) Managed forests and agroforestry systems directly improve the diversification of dietary requirements, the quality and quantity of non-timber forest products (i.e. wild and cultivated fruit, vegetables, seeds, nuts, oils, roots, fungi, herbs, and animal protein), and food availability in times of seasonal and other scarcities (for an overview, see Vira et al., 2015). [Indicator UN 2.3.1]

USE PHASE

• (*potential positive contributions*) The extraction sector and the processing industry supply materials used as fertilizers in agriculture, for instance, phosphate and potash. Therefore, these sectors indirectly contribute to food security by fostering agricultural productivity. [Indicator UN 2.3.1]

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - 2.3.1 Volume of production per labour unit by classes of farming/pastoral/forestry enterprise size
 - 2.4.1 Proportion of agricultural area under productive and sustainable agriculture

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

None

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 1 No poverty
- SDG 6 Clean water and sanitation
- SDG 14 Life below water
- SDG 15 Life on land

- EU policy framework on food security, COM(2010) 127 final
- Common Agricultural Policy (CAP)
- A new EU Forest Strategy: for forests and the forest-based sector, COM(2013) 659 final

4.3 SDG 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages



MINING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) Hazardous substances and wastes released in water, air, and soil by mining and manufacturing industries can have serious, negative impacts on public health (Environmental Law Alliance Worldwide, 2010). [Indicator UN 3.9.1; EUROSTAT 11.50]

• (potential adverse impacts) Population growth in mining communities caused by migration inflow and gender imbalance can create problems of a psychological and behavioural nature (e.g. alcoholism, drug addiction, and prostitution). Local communities in mining areas, especially in developing countries, can register a higher incidence of HIV/AIDS and sexually transmitted infections (e.g. Mactaggart et al., 2018). [Indicator UN 3.3.1]

• (potential adverse impacts) Artisanal and Small scale Mining (ASM), especially in developing countries, often operates outside health and safety standards and environmental legislation. ASM gold mining is responsible for one-quarter to one-third of global mercury pollution, which has severe health impacts on exposed workers and local communities (e.g. Hentschel et al., 2002).

MANUFACTURING SECTOR

• *(potential adverse impacts)* In comparison to other manufacturing sectors, risks of severe injuries are generally higher in basic metal production due to hazards such as molten metal (ILO, 2005). [Indicators EUROSTAT 08.30]

USE PHASE

• *(potential adverse impacts)* Some materials used in products and applications can be toxic and have harmful effects on consumer health. Innovation projects are in place for the substitution of toxic materials, as foreseen in the REACH Regulation adopted in 2007. This EU legislation aims to improve the protection of human health and the environment from the risks posed by chemicals and raw materials.

• (*potential positive contributions*) Some raw materials used in medical devices are indispensable for improving human well-being. This is the case of some critical metals like tantalum, used in prosthetic devices for humans, and niobium-titanium alloys used for superconducting magnetic coils in magnetic resonance imagers (Mancheri et al., 2018; T.I.C., 2018).

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Especially in developing countries, the extensive use of fuelwood for cooking or heating increases the exposure of poor women and young children to significant pollutants, therefore causing acute infections of the lower respiratory tract and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (e.g. Smith, 2006). [Indicator UN 3.9.1]

END-OF-LIFE PHASE

• (*potential adverse impacts*) If not properly managed, waste can have negative health effects, especially in the case of handling hazardous waste. For instance, the treatment

of e-waste illegally shipped in developing countries is often managed using rudimentary techniques, causing adverse environmental and health implications (Lundgren, 2012).

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - 3.3.1 Number of new HIV infections per 1,000 uninfected population, by sex, age, and key populations
 - o 3.9.1 Mortality rate attributed to household and ambient air pollution
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - 08.60 People killed in accidents at work
 - 11.50 Exposure to air pollution by particulate matter

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

 Incidence rate of non-fatal accidents (indicator 23 'Occupational safety', EC 2016; indicator 25 'Occupational safety' EC 2018a)

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 6 Clean water and sanitation
- SDG 8 Decent work and economic growth
- SDG 15 Life on land

- Establishing a European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2017) 250 final
- Monitoring the implementation of the European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2018) 130
- Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and by the Council on the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation, and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH)

4.4 SDG 4: Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all



CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES

• (*potential positive contributions*) Companies can provide training and educational opportunities to employees (Azapagic, 2004; Veiga et al., 2001)[Indicator UN 4.3.1; Eurostat 04.60]. For example, several NGOs and agencies in the wood-based product sector provide educational programs and allocate funds to improve the quality of life of the poorest people and their families in developing countries (*potential positive contribution*). Moreover, the investments in education from big companies help to bridge the gap between local knowledge-related (handmade) production and global production and trade, as is the case in the paper industry and manufacturing in Nepal (Biggs and Messerschmidt, 2005) [Indicator UN 4.3.1; Eurostat 04.60].

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - 4.3.1 Participation rate of youth and adults in formal and non-formal education and training in the previous 12 months, by sex
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - 04.60 Adult participation in learning

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

• Number of educational programmes related to raw materials by country (indicator 10 'Knowledge and skills', EC 2016)

RELATED SDGs

• SDG 8 Decent work and economic growth

- Establishing a European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2017) 250 final
- Monitoring the implementation of the European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2018) 130 final

4.5 SDG 5: Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls



MINING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) Historically, the mining sector has always been maledominated. In the case of large scale mining, female employment is low, very rarely exceeding 10% of the total workforce (Jenkins, 2014). Many initiatives and programmes aimed at increasing women involvement in the sector are currently under way¹³.

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Some studies highlight the disproportionate effect of the negative impacts of mining on women, especially those affecting local communities, such as environmental degradation, loss of traditional means of livelihood, health, community displacement, and human rights abuses (Jenkins, 2014; Lozeva and Marinova, 2010; Reeson et al., 2012).

• (potential adverse impacts) Mining development in rural, isolated areas can bring widespread social change, which predominantly affect women. For instance, the in-flow migration of mineworkers and the consequent gender imbalance can cause diffusion of alcoholism, drug addiction, prostitution, etc. (Jenkins, 2014; Kitula, 2006).

• (*potential positive contributions*) Recently, attention has been given to the feminisation of the mining sector. This is especially the case in Artisanal Small scale Mining (ASM), where the number of women engaged in mining as a means of livelihood is increasing (Hayes and Perks, 2012; Lahiri-Dutt, 2015). [Indicator EUROSTAT 05.20; 05.30].

• (potential adverse impacts) However, Women working in ASM are often concentrated in the processing of minerals, carrying out hazardous manual tasks, and using extremely toxic substances like mercury. Due to the informal nature of women's labour in ASM, their status as mineworkers is not often recognized.

FORESTRY

• (*potential positive contributions*) Especially in developing countries, the availability and use of firewood and non-timber forest products (fruits of the forest, medicinal materials) improve access and incomes for women and the overall well-being of the household (Ingram et al., 2017; Marin and Kuriakose, 2017; Pierce Colfer et al., 2016). [Indicator UN 5.a.1]

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - $\circ~$ 5.a.1 Proportion of total agricultural population with ownership or secure rights over agricultural land, by sex.
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - \circ 05.20 Gender pay gap

¹³ For instance: <u>https://www.mihr.ca/pdf/MiHR Gender Report EN WEB.pdf; https://wimng.org/;</u> <u>https://commdev.org/userfiles/files/2583 file IFC Case study CS4 7.pdf;</u> <u>https://www.womeninmining.org.uk/</u>

05.30 Gender employment gap

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

None

RELATED SDGs

• SDG 8 Decent work and economic growth

- Establishing a European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2017) 250 final
- Monitoring the implementation of the European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2018) 130 final

4.6 SDG 6: Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all



MINING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) Mining activities contribute to the release of pollutants to water, soils, and air during extraction, ore processing, etc. These pollutants contain acidifying and hazardous substances as well as other substances that have negative impacts on water quality. Toxic effluents and leakages from waste management or storage facilities can also penetrate groundwater resources (Northey et al., 2016; IRP-UNEP forthcoming) which are essential sources of clean water in many areas.

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Acid mine drainage, which can also occur post-closure, can have extensive impacts on water and soils quality (IRP-UNEP, forthcoming). [Indicator UN 6.3.1; 6.3.2; Indicator EUROSTAT 06.30]

• (potential adverse impacts) Mining operations can create local water stress (Northey et al., 2016). The mining and processing of certain commodities are among the most water-intense economic activities (Eurostat, 2014; Zal et al., 2017), and these can be located in water-scarce environments. Decreasing ore grades probably lead to increased demand for water by the sector in the future, while climate change is expected to decrease water availability (ICMM, 2013). In the case of mining, there can also be pressure on water availability during exploration and post-closure stages. [Indicator UN 6.4.1; Indicator EUROSTAT 06.60]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Mine dewatering can provide additional water resources for other water uses. This water supply can also continue post-closure whenever the site post-closure management plan envisages the continuation of dewatering. [Indicator UN 6.4.2.; Indicator EUROSTAT 06.60]

• (potential adverse impacts) On the other hand, under certain circumstances mine dewatering can alter the groundwater table (Northey et al, 2016), which might reduce local water availability and have environmental impacts on related ecosystems. This can also affect transboundary water bodies. [Indicator UN 6.3.2; 6.4.1]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Relief alteration by extractive activities might result in the formation of pit lakes. [Indicator UN 6.3.2]

MANUFACTURING SECTOR

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Manufacturing industries are responsible for the release of pollutants into water, air, and soil. [Indicator UN 6.3.1; 6.3.2; Indicator EUROSTAT 06.30]

MINING AND MANUFACTURING SECTORS

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Reuse and recycling of water at mining and manufacturing facilities can contribute to reducing pressure on both quantity and quality of water resources. [Indicator UN 6.3.1; 6.3.2; 6.4.1; 6.4.2; Indicator EUROSTAT 06.30; 06.60]

USE PHASE

• (*potential positive contributions*) Some materials such as sand are essential for water treatment technologies and techniques. [Indicator UN 6.3.1; Indicator EUROSTAT 06.30]

END-OF-LIFE PHASE

• (*potential adverse impacts*) If not properly managed, waste can have negative impacts on water bodies and soils, especially in the case of hazardous waste handling. The treatment of illegally shipped e-waste in developing countries is often managed using rudimentary techniques, having adverse environmental and health implications (Lundgren, 2012). [Indicator UN 6.3.2]

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS:

- UN Framework:
 - 6.3.1 Proportion of wastewater safely treated
 - 6.3.2 Proportion of bodies of water with good ambient water quality
 - o 6.4.1 Change in water-use efficiency over time
 - $\circ~$ 6.4.2 Level of water stress: freshwater withdrawal as a proportion of available freshwater resources
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - o 06.30 Biochemical oxygen demand in rivers
 - 06.60 Water Exploitation Index

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

• Water (indicator 20 'Water', EC 2016; EC 2018a)

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 2 Zero hunger
- SDG 3 Good health and well-being
- SDG 12 Responsible consumption and production
- SDG 13 Climate action
- SDG 14 Life below water

- Industrial Emissions Directive (2010/75/EU) and Best Available Techniques (BAT) reference documents
- Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)
- European Innovation Partnership (EIP) on Water
- Closing the loop An EU action plan for the Circular Economy, COM(2015) 0614 final

4.7 SDG 7: Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable, and modern energy for all



MINING AND MANUFACTURING SECTORS

• (potential adverse impacts) Extractive and manufacturing raw material activities are generally energy-intensive (EC, 2016c). This not only applies to onsite operation but also to transport of materials from sourcing countries, and other energy embodied in the production chain such as the energy required to produce the chemicals used for ore processing, etc. Moreover, the decrease in ore grades leads to increasing processing with associated increase in energy use. [Indicator UN 7.3.1; Indicator EUROSTAT 07.30; 07.40]

• (*both potential positive contributions and adverse impacts*) Raw materials are required for the deployment of low-carbon and renewable technologies (Blagoeva et al., 2016) [Indicator UN 7.1.2; 7.3.1; Indicator EUROSTAT 07.30; 07.40]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Mining operations create and maintain energy infrastructure such as electricity grids, which can also supply the local population [Indicator UN 7.1.1]

FORESTRY AND USE OF WOOD

• (both potential positive contributions and adverse impacts) Woody biomass (in the form of cut branches, wood chip and bark, and pellets) contributes to more than 10% of the annual global energy supply, and constitutes approximately 90% of total bioenergy sources (World Energy Council, 2016). According to recent estimates, forests will satisfy up to 18% of the global primary consumption in the next few decades (Lauri et al., 2014). The optimization of forest harvesting operations (e.g. use of residues for bioenergy purposes) in conjunction with the cascading use of wood is a key strategy in reducing energy consumption (e.g. use of recovered fibres or wood saved) and in saving the money of local communities in accessing energy sources. However, wood energy consumption and use strongly depend on market (supply/demand) and trade (import/export), which in turn may affect harvesting pressures on forests and GHG emissions (Bais-Moleman et al., 2018). The use of wood energy is indeed consistent with the concept of carbon neutrality (e.g. Cornwall, 2017). [Indicator UN 7.2.1] [Indicator EUROSTAT 07.40]

USE PHASE

• (*potential positive contributions*) The use of specific raw materials can have a strong impact on energy requirements during the product use phase. For instance, the use of aluminium in vehicles because it is lighter than other alternative materials can reduce energy demand. It is important to consider the associated energy requirements all along the material supply chain since the energy requirements for the production of aluminium might not be payed off by the reduction in energy requirements during the use phase. [Indicator UN 7.3.1; Indicator EUROSTAT 07.10; 07.20]

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - 7.1.1 Proportion of population with access to electricity

- \circ 7.2.1 Renewable energy share in the total final energy consumption
- $_{\odot}$ 7.3.1 Energy intensity measured in terms of primary energy and GDP
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - o 07.10 Primary and final energy consumption
 - o 07.20 Final energy consumption in households per capita
 - 07.30 Energy productivity
 - o 07.40 Share of renewable energy in gross final energy consumption

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

- Raw materials in low-carbon technologies (introduction, EC 2016)
- Demand forecast in the EU for selected critical raw materials for the hybrid and electric vehicles segments (introduction, EC 2018)

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 12 Responsible consumption and production
- SDG 13 Climate action

- The Paris Protocol A blueprint for tackling global climate change beyond COM (2015)81
- Directive (EU) 2018/410 of the European Parliament and the Council of 14 March 2018 amending Directive 2003/87/EC to enhance cost-effective emission reductions and low-carbon investments, and Decision (EU) 2015/1814
- The 2030 Climate and Energy Policy Framework
- Establishing a European Pillar of Social Rights COM(2017) 250 final
- Monitoring the implementation of the European Pillar of Social Rights COM(2018) 130 final
- A new EU Forest Strategy: for forests and the forest-based sector, COM(2013)659 final

4.8 SDG 8: Promote sustained, inclusive, and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and decent work for all



CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES

• (*potential positive contributions*) According to Eurostat data, in 2014 economic activities relating to biotic and abiotic raw materials production employed more than 3.4 million people (EC 2018a) [Indicator EUROSTAT 08.30].

• (*potential positive contributions*) The contribution of raw materials sectors to EU employment goes far beyond economic activities strictly related to the production of materials. The number of jobs created downstream in the supply chain in the manufacture of semi-finished products is much higher than the number of jobs from production of materials alone (EC, 2016c).

• (both potential positive contributions and negative impacts) The raw materials sectors (especially mining and forestry) are characterised by a high degree of informality, particularly in developing countries. For instance, the global mining industry employs around 2.5 million people while according to estimates, informal mining activities provide jobs for 15–20 million people (ICMM, 2014). Informal work in the forest sector is fostered by the expansion of illegal logging. [Indicator UN 8.3.1]

MINING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) Especially in developing countries, occupational hazards, work accidents, and child labour particularly affect the mining sector. According to the International Labour Organization (ILO), more than one million children work as miners worldwide. They are almost exclusively found in artisanal small-scale mining operations in Africa, Asia, and Latin America. [Indicator UN 8.7.1]

FORESTRY

• In Europe, forestry has the highest accidents rate among the raw materials sectors, but the trend is decreasing (EC, 2016c). Forestry work is generally considered hazardous (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA), 2013) due to the widespread use of manual operations in spite of the increasing mechanization in the sector. [Indicator UN 8.8.1; EUROSTAT 08.60]

MANUFACTURING SECTOR

• (*potential adverse impacts*) In comparison to other manufacturing sectors, risks of severe injuries are generally higher in basic metal production due to the presence of hazards such as molten metal (ILO, 2005).

END-OF-LIFE PHASE

• (*potential positive contributions*) The waste management and recycling sectors makes a significant contribution to employment. According to estimates from various sources, 3.4 million jobs have been created by circular economy-related activities in the EU (WRAP, 2015).

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - o 8.3.1 Proportion of informal employment in non-agriculture employment, by sex
 - $_{\odot}$ 8.7.1 Proportion and number of children aged 5–17 years engaged in child labour, by sex and age
 - $\circ~$ 8.8.1 Frequency rates of fatal and non-fatal occupational injuries, by sex and migrant status
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - o 08.30 Employment rate
 - \circ 08.60 People killed in accidents at work

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

- Number of jobs for a selection of raw material economic sectors in the EU (2008-2012) (indicator 7 'Value added and jobs', EC 2016; EC 2018a)
- Incidence rate of non-fatal accidents for a selection of economic sectors (indicator 23 'Occupational safety', EC 2016; indicator 25 'Occupational safety', EC 2018a)

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 3 Good health and well-being
- SDG 10 Reduced inequalities

- Establishing a European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2017) 250 final
- Monitoring the implementation of the European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2018) 130
- Raw Materials Initiative, COM(2008) 699 final
- Investing in smart, innovative and sustainable Industry A renewed EU Industrial Policy Strategy, COM(2017) 479 final
- European Innovation Partnership on Raw Materials, COM(2012) 82 final
- Closing the loop An EU action plan for the Circular Economy, COM(2015) 0614 final
- A new EU Forest Strategy: for forests and the forest-based sector, COM(2013) 659 final

4.9 SDG 9: Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and fostering innovation



MINING SECTOR

• (*potential positive contributions*) The presence of mining activities in a region can contribute to local and regional development by providing and improving related physical infrastructures. Road networks, power and water networks, and health care systems form the physical basis of society, and this basis allows the local population to access such things as health and education services, and have the economy for these to function (Hilson, 2002; Weldegiorgis and Ali, 2016). [Indicator UN 9.1.1].

FORESTRY

• (*potential positive contributions*) Innovation in machines used for harvesting operations contributes to a reduction of fuel consumption per unit of wood product and improves machine productivity (e.g. in Brazil; Spinelli et al., 2018). [Indicator UN 9.4.1].

• (*potential positive contributions*) The recently-developed concept of Sustainable Forest Operations (SFO) helps to (i) minimize the environmental impacts of forest operations, (ii) keep the forest sector economically viable, (iii) safeguard and protect forest workers from undue risks (ergonomics), (iv) optimize quality (e.g. improving harvesting rates), and (v) support additional goods and services for local communities (e.g. Marchi et al., 2018). Examples of sustainable forest resource allocation in Canada are provided by Boukherroub et al. (2017).

MANUFACTURING SECTOR

• (*potential positive contributions*) The average R&D investment in the EU raw materials sectors increased considerably during the last decade, especially for the mining and production of iron, base metals, other minerals, and coal (EC, 2018b). [Indicator UN 9.5.1; EUROSTAT 9.10]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Among different raw materials sectors, the number of worldwide¹⁴ patent applications are highest in the production and manufacturing of both metals and non-metallic mineral products (EC, 2018b). The relative increases are highest for mining and mineral processing, which are followed by recycling and production and manufacturing of non-metallic mineral products [Indicator EUROSTAT 9.40]

MANUFACTURING SECTOR (WOOD PRODUCTS)

• (*potential positive contributions*) Strategic transformation of wood product companies (from non-branded manufacturing to original equipment manufacturing, and further to original brand manufacturing) increases the availability of intangible resources (e.g. collaboration and reputation, management expertise, personnel know-how) (e.g. in China; Wan et al., 2015).

USE PHASE

• (*potential positive contributions*) Raw materials are widely used in various applications including physical infrastructure, machinery, and final use applications. Some metals and

¹⁴ The analysis refers to a selection of leading countries in the field of patent applications, i.e. Canada, the European Union, Japan, Russia, South Korea, and the United States.

materials are required for renewable energy componentry and related technologies such as batteries for energy storage. These include copper, cobalt, cadmium, tellurium, and rare earth elements (REEs) (Blagoeva et al., 2016). [Indicator UN 9.4.1]

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - $_{\odot}~$ 9.1.1 Proportion of the rural population who live within 2 km of an all-season road
 - \circ 9.1.2 Passenger and freight volumes, by mode of transport
 - o 9.2.2 Manufacturing employment as a proportion of total employment
 - $_{\odot}$ $\,$ 9.4.1 CO2 emission per unit of value added
 - $_{\odot}$ 9.5.1 Research and development expenditure as a proportion of GDP
 - 9.5.2 Researchers (in full-time equivalent) per million inhabitants
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - 09.10 Gross Domestic expenditure on R&D
 - o 09.40 Patent applications to the European Patent Office

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

- Annual R&D investment by key EU-based investing companies by raw material sector group (indicator 8 Corporate R&D investment, EC 2016; EC 2018a)
- Comparison of the number of patent applications by the raw material sector, and its five contributing raw material categories (indicator 9 'Patent applications' EC 2016; EC 2018a)
- Emissions of greenhouse gases (indicator 19 'Air emissions' EC 2016; indicator 20 "Greenhouse gas emissions" and 21 "Air pollutant emissions" EC 2018a)

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 8 Decent work and economic growth
- SDG 7 Affordable and clean energy
- SDG 11 Sustainable cities and communities
- SDG 13 Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts

- Raw Materials Initiative COM (2008) 699 final
- Investing in smart, innovative and sustainable Industry A renewed EU Industrial Policy Strategy, COM(2017)0479 final
- Closing the loop An EU action plan for the Circular Economy, COM(2015) 0614 final
- The 2030 Climate and Energy Policy Framework

4.10 SDG 10: Reduce inequality within and among countries



MINING SECTOR

• (*both potential positive contributions and adverse impacts*) Mining can be a significant driver of export growth as well as income and employment. However, while income growth is an economic benefit, the high incomes associated with the mining sector may also lead to greater inequality (Fleming and Measham, 2015; Jenkins, 2014; Loayza and Rigolini, 2016).

• (both potential positive contributions and adverse impacts) Worldwide, the mining industry is characterised by the significant presence of foreign migrant workers. Working conditions usually vary in large-scale compared with small-scale mining as well as in developing compared with developed countries. In general, temporary low-skilled migrant workers are often more vulnerable to the risk of employer exploitation and are not always paid for the work at current market rates (Coderre-Proulx et al., 2016). [Indicator UN 10.7.1; 10.7.2].

FORESTRY

• (*potential positive contributions*) The *remittance forest*¹⁵ contributes to gender equality and diversification of wood and non-wood products (e.g. resin, understory biomass), improve the livelihood of local communities, and further enables access to resources for poor people or women (e.g. in Indonesia; Peluso and Purwanto, 2018).

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - $\circ~$ 10.7.1 Recruitment cost borne by employee as a proportion of yearly income earned in country of destination
 - $_{\odot}$ 10.7.2 Number of countries that have implemented well-managed migration policies

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

None

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 1 No poverty
- SDG 8 Decent work and economic growth

RELATED EU POLICY INITIATIVES

• Establishing a European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2017) 250 final

¹⁵ The "remittance forest" is considered to be a part of the "remittance landscape", where changes linked to land use and social-economic frameworks are affected by the flow of remittances coming from people working abroad (migrants) (McKay, 2005; Peluso and Purwanto, 2018). Linked to outmigration and "forest transition" phenomenon, the effect of remittances is controversial: on the one hand, remittances reduce the pressure on land, and on the other, they improve the sustainable use of natural resources and local incomes as well as the diversification of bio-based products (Lambin and Meyfroidt, 2011).

 Monitoring the implementation of the European Pillar of Social Rights, COM(2018)

4.11 SDG 11: Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable



MINING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) Mining activities in developing countries can contribute to the creation and expansion of slums around the operation facility and to local socioeconomic inequalities (IRP-UNEP, forthcoming). [Indicator UN 11.1.1; 11.3.1; EUROSTAT 11.10]

• *(potential adverse impacts)* The development of mining activities can damage local cultural and aesthetic heritage (Mancini and Sala, 2018).

• (*potential adverse impacts*) In mining communities, population growth due to migration inflow and gender imbalance can lead to behaviours such as alcoholism, drug addiction, and prostitution, which in turn can also lead to higher rates of physical and sexual harassment. [Indicator UN 11.7.2]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Mining industries can invest funds in the preservation of the local natural and cultural heritage. Mines might be converted into parks and green spaces after closure. [Indicator UN 11.7.1]

MINING AND MANUFACTURING SECTORS

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Land use conversion into mining, processing, and/or manufacturing facilities increases the land footprint of the sector. [Indicator UN 11.1.1]

• *(potential adverse impacts)* Mining, processing, and manufacturing facilities can generate noise. [Indicator EUROSTAT 11.20]

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Accidents might occur at mining, processing, and manufacturing facilities. Often costs associated to the environmental and socio-economic recovery are not fully assumed by the operating companies, and can eventually become an economic burden for the public authorities in charge.

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Industrial facilities can contribute to the release and formation of particulate matter in populated areas. [Indicator UN 11.6.2; EUROSTAT 11.50]

FORESTRY

• (*potential positive contributions*) Besides urban forestry and greening and Nature-Based Solutions (Strohbach et al., 2016), the harvesting of non-wood forest products (e.g. through foraging activities) plays a key role in maintaining cultural, spiritual, and material services from urban green spaces (e.g. in Philadelphia; Hurley et al., 2015). Furthermore, foraging activities reduce maintenance costs in urban parks, remove undesirable species, and improve public education (e.g. in Seattle, USA; McLain et al., 2017). [Indicator UN 11.4.1]

USE PHASE

• (*potential positive contributions*) Raw materials are essential for the development of sustainable and resilient urban infrastructure, including adequate housing and public

transport networks, among other things. [Indicator UN 11.1.1; 11.2.1; 11.6.2] [Indicator EUROSTAT 11.30]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Raw materials are essential to the development of end-of-pipe technologies for pollution abatement. [Indicator UN 11.6.2]

END-OF-LIFE PHASE

• *(potential adverse impacts)* If not properly managed, waste disposal can create slums nearby and foster socio-economic imbalances and health concerns. [Indicator UN 11.1.1]

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - $_{\odot}$ 11.1.1 Proportion of urban population living in slums, informal settlements, or inadequate housing
 - 11.2.1 Proportion of population that has convenient access to public transport, by sex, age and persons with disabilities
 - 11.3.1 Ratio of land consumption rate to population growth rate
 - 11.3.2 Proportion of cities with a direct participation structure of civil society in urban planning and management that operate regularly and democratically
 - 11.4.1 Total expenditure (public and private) per capita spent on the preservation, protection, and conservation of all cultural and natural heritage, by type of heritage (cultural, natural, mixed, and World Heritage Centre designation), level of government (national, regional, and local/municipal), type of expenditure (operating expenditure/investment), and type of private funding (donations in kind, private non-profit sector, and sponsorship).
 - 11.6.2 Annual mean levels of fine particulate matter (e.g. PM2.5 and PM10) in cities (population weighted)
 - 11.7.1 Average share of the built-up area of cities that is open space for public use for all, by sex and age, and persons with disabilities
 - 11.7.2 Proportion of persons victim of physical or sexual harassment, by sex, age, disability status, and place of occurrence in the previous 12 months
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - \circ 11.10 Overcrowding rate
 - 11.20 Population living in households considering that they suffer from noise
 - 11.50 Exposure to air pollution by particulate matter

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

- Tropospheric ozone formation potential (TOFP) emissions (indicator 19 'Air emissions', EC 2016)
- Particulate matter emissions (indicator 21 'Air pollutant emissions', EC 2018a)

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 1 No poverty
- SDG 3 Good health and well-being
- SDG 6 Clean water and sanitation
- SDG 9 Industry, innovation, and infrastructure
- SDG 10 Reduced inequalities
- SDG 15 Life on land

RELATED EU POLICY INITIATIVES

- 7th Environmental Action Programme (7EAP) under Priority Objective 8, entitled, Sustainable Cities: "Working together for Common Solutions".
- Closing the loop An EU action plan for the Circular Economy, COM(2015) 0614 final

4.12 SDG 12: Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns



CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES

• (*potential positive contributions*) Resource efficiency is an objective in both the European environmental policy (EC 2011, 2015) and the industrial policy (EC 2017). The raw materials sectors have a key role in pursuing the resource efficiency SDG because they produce inputs for other end use sectors. Moreover, the amount of natural resources (land, water, energy, etc.) used to extract materials and produce semi-finished products can be optimized by using innovative and clean technologies [Indicator UN 12.2.1; 12.2.2; EUROSTAT 12.20; 07.30]. Addressing the full life cycle of raw materials is essential to ensure that resources are used efficiently along the entire supply chains.

• (potential adverse impacts) Mining and manufacturing activities can generate prominent amounts of waste, emissions, and effluents. Especially in the case of hazardous waste, the best available techniques are to be applied in order to minimize waste flows and related environmental impacts.

• (potential positive contributions and adverse impacts) Forest certification and traceability schemes applied to wood products' harvesting, production, and trade may ensure the implementation of sustainability principles in management and planning through reducing illegal logging (also positive implications for SDGs 13 and 15), may improve market opportunities for developing countries, may provide transparent information about harvested amount, suppliers, and beneficiaries as well as access to decent jobs (also positive implications for SDG 8). However, the effectiveness of certification schemes for sustainability targets (e.g. biodiversity conservation, and sustainable use of natural resources) depends on local circumstances (e.g. Rametsteiner and Simula, 2003). Indeed, in some cases, international and state initiatives for legality and traceability could limit the accessibility of smallholders to the market, and further create substrates for illegality (e.g. the Brazilian Amazon; McDermott et al., 2015).

MANUFACTURING SECTOR

• (*potential positive contributions*) Eco-design plays a key role in enhancing resource efficiency of products. It allows more energy and material efficient products to be made which are more durable, reparable, and easier to dismantle in the end-of-life phase (e.g. Tecchio et al. 2016).

USE PHASE

• The consumption phase has an important role in improving resource efficiency and reducing environmental impacts.

• (*potential positive contributions*) Re-using and repairing products extends their life span and reduces waste flows (including hazardous waste) and related environmental impacts [EUROSTAT 12.4.1].

• (*potential positive contributions*) In the construction sector, using wood instead of concrete and iron allows the environmental (and carbon) footprint and pollution to be reduced (Wang et al., 2016b, 2016a).

END-OF-LIFE PHASE

• (*potential positive contributions*) The waste management phase and the production of secondary raw materials have a crucial role in improving the circularity of the economy, and in reducing the environmental impacts caused by primary production (in terms of emissions to air, water bodies, and soil, biodiversity loss, etc.) (Huisman et al., 2008). Recycling materials is also important in improving sustainability, and contributes to the security of raw material supply. While the recycling contribution to meeting material demand is actually quite low (EC 2016), quality standards and eco-design can boost the market for secondary materials [Indicator UN 12.5.1; 12.6.1; EUROSTAT 12.41; 12.50; 12.60].

• (*potential positive contributions*) As stressed in the European strategic long-term vision (COM/2018/773), a resource-efficient and circular economy will improve the economy competitiveness, create business opportunities and jobs, and, requing less energy, will reduce pollution and greenhouse gas emissions (EC, 2018c).

• The cascading use of wood (for instance, reuse and recycling of waste wood, for example, the production of particleboards) improves resource efficiency and contributes to reducing the environmental (and carbon) footprint. [Indicator UN 12.5.1; EUROSTAT 12.41].

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - $_{\odot}$ $\,$ 12.2.1 Material footprint, material footprint per capita, and material footprint per GDP
 - $_{\odot}$ 12.2.2 Domestic material consumption, domestic material consumption per capita, and domestic material consumption per GDP
 - 12.5.1 National recycling rate, tons of material recycled
 - 12.6.1 Number of companies publishing sustainability reports
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - o 12.20 Resource productivity and domestic material consumption
 - 07.30 Energy productivity
 - 12.41 Circular material use rate
 - 12.50 Generation of waste excluding major mineral wastes
 - 12.60 Recycling rate of waste excluding major mineral wastes

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

• Domestic material consumption by resource category (indicator 15 'Material flows in the circular economy', EC 2016; EC 2018a)

• End-of-life recycling input rates (EOL-RIR) for a selection of raw materials (indicator 16 'Recycling's contribution to meeting materials demand', EC 2016; EC 2018a)

• Electrical and electronic equipment put on the market, WEEE collected, reused, and recycled (indicator 17 "WEEE management, EC 2016; EC 2018a)

• Trade in selected waste materials to and from the EU (indicator 18 Trade in secondary raw materials, EC 2016; indicator 18 'Trade of waste and scrap', EC 2018a)

• Extractive waste management (indicator 21 'Extractive waste management', EC 2016; indicator 23 'Extractive waste', EC 2018a)

- Number of companies that have joined the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) (indicator 24 'Sustainability reporting', EC 2016; indicator 26 'Sustainability reporting' EC 2018a)
- Construction and demolition waste (indicator 19, EC 2018a)

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 6 Clean water and sanitation
- SDG 7 Affordable and clean energy
- SDG 9 Industry, innovation, and infrastructure
- SDG 11 Sustainable cities and communities
- SDG 13 Climate action

RELATED EU POLICY INITIATIVES

- Roadmap to a Resource Efficient Europe, COM(2011) 571
- Closing the loop An EU action plan for the Circular Economy, COM(2015) 0614 final
- A new EU Forest Strategy: for forests and the forest-based sector, COM(2013)659 final
- EU Eco-Management and Audit Scheme (EMAS)
- Regulation (EC) No 66/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2009 on the EU Ecolabel
- Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH)
- Regulation (EU) 995/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 October 2010 laying down the obligations of operators who place timber and timber products on the market (Text with EEA relevance).

4.13 SDG 13: Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts



MINING AND MANUFACTURING SECTORS

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Mining, smelting, and refining are particularly energyintensive industries which produce significant amounts of GHG emissions [Indicator EUROSTAT 13.20; 13.30]

FORESTRY

• (*potential positive contributions*) The forest sector can play a major role in climate change mitigation by reducing GHG emissions into the atmosphere (in particular, carbon dioxide (CO₂)). Forests accumulate large stocks of carbon in the form of woody biomass and in forest soils (Grassi et al., 2017; Le Quéré et al., 2017). [Target UN 13.1; Indicator EUROSTAT 13.30]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Forestry contributes to climate change mitigation in several ways, particularly through: i) sustainable forest management (including forest restoration); ii) afforestation/reforestation; iii) avoiding deforestation and forest degradation; and iv) material and energy¹⁶ substitution. there are many options Along the forest value chain (harvesting, manufacturing, use, and end-of-life) to reduce GHG emissions, such as making the machines more efficient (fuel consumption, emissions), wood products firms innovating by adopting climate-friendly technologies, and reusing or recycling waste wood.

• (*potential positive contributions*) The forestry sector also contributes to climate change adaptation. For example, forest restoration through planting (selection of less vulnerable species, weed and herbivore control, use of fertilizers such as biochar) improves the functionality and stability of forest ecosystems and local communities while combatting climate-related extreme events such as drought, wildfires, floods, avalanches, insect outbreaks, etc. [Target UN 13.2]

• (*potential positive contributions*) In the case of roundwood, harvested wood products contribute to climate change mitigation by storing carbon for long periods, and roundwood compensates for GHG emissions from other sectors when used to substitute other construction materials (substitution effect).

• (*both potential positive contributions and adverse impacts*) Fuelwood (for cooking or heating purposes) can support energy savings but can also contribute to increasing GHG emissions into the atmosphere, depending on the feedstock used, the material replaced, and the temporal scale analysed. [Indicator EUROSTAT 13.20]

USE PHASE

 (potential positive contributions) Power generation is one of the major contributors to climate change. Low-carbon energy technologies, which require specific raw materials including critical materials (Kleijn et al., 2011), can substantially reduce carbon emissions [Indicator EUROSTAT 07.40]. For instance, rare earths are used in wind energy turbine generators and electric vehicles; silicon is needed to

¹⁶ the contribution is highly context-specific (e.g. technology conversion, biomass sources, fuel replaced)

produce solar photovoltaic energy; lithium, cobalt and graphite are used in batteries. A JRC report addresses the EU resilience in view of supply of the key materials required for the large deployment of selected low-carbon technologies, namely wind, photovoltaic and electric vehicles (Blagoeva et al., 2016).

END-OF-LIFE PHASE

• Reuse, recovery, and recycling reduce emissions from the production of primary materials (Hestin et al., 2016).

• Reducing scavenging and the export of cooling and freezing appliances and treatment according to standards limits emissions of CFCs and besides ozone-layer depletion, reduces the release of gases with a very high global warming potential (Huisman et al., 2015).

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - Target 13.1 Strengthen resilience and adaptive capacity to climate-related hazards and natural disasters in all countries
 - Target 13.2 Integrate climate change measures into national policies, strategies, and planning
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - o 13.20 Greenhouse gas emissions intensity of energy consumption
 - o 13.30 Greenhouse gas emissions
 - 07.40 Share of renewable energy in gross final energy consumption

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

• Emissions of greenhouse gases (A) and gases with tropospheric ozone formation potential (B) (indicator 19 'Air emissions', EC 2016; indicator 20 "Greenhouse gas emissions" EC 2018a)

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 6 Clean water and sanitation
- SDG 7 Affordable and clean energy
- SDG 9 Industry, innovation, and infrastructure
- SDG 11 Sustainable cities and communities
- SDG 12. Responsible consumption and production
- SDG 15 Life on land

RELATED EU POLICY INITIATIVES

• Directive (EU) 2018/410 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 March 2018 amending Directive 2003/87/EC to enhance cost-effective emission reductions and low-carbon investments, and Decision (EU) 2015/1814 (Text with EEA relevance).

• Directive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 October 2003 establishing a scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC (Text with EEA relevance).

• Regulation (EU) 2018/842 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 on binding annual greenhouse gas emission reductions by Member States from 2021

to 2030 contributing to climate action to meet commitments under the Paris Agreement and amending Regulation (EU) No 525/2013 (Text with EEA relevance).

• Regulation (EU) 2018/841 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 on the inclusion of greenhouse gas emissions and removals from land use, land use change and forestry in the 2030 climate and energy framework, and amending Regulation (EU) No 525/2013 and Decision No 529/2013/EU (Text with EEA relevance).

• Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2009 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources and amending and subsequently repealing Directives 2001/77/EC and 2003/30/EC (Text with EEA relevance).

• Directive 2012/27/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2012 on energy efficiency, amending Directives 2009/125/EC and 2010/30/EU and repealing Directives 2004/8/EC and 2006/32/EC Text with EEA relevance.

• A new EU Forest Strategy: for forests and the forest-based sector, COM(2013) 659

• A Clean Planet for all. A European strategic long-term vision for a prosperous, modern, competitive and climate neutral economy. COM(2018) 773.

• A sustainable Bioeconomy for Europe: Strengthening the connection between economy, society, and the environment, COM(2018) 673/2

• Closing the loop - An EU action plan for the Circular Economy, COM(2015) 0614 final

4.14 SDG 14: Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas, and marine resources for sustainable development



MINING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) Mining sites close to a marine environment may dispose tailings into the sea (seabed and deep-sea zone). This generally reduces the abundance of aquatic life (IRP-UNEP, forthcoming). Moreover, the entire range of impacts from waste disposal into the sea is not yet fully known. Discharges, leakages, and acid mine drainage can also contribute to sea pollution with toxic substances (IRP-UNEP, forthcoming). [Target UN 14.1]

• (potential adverse impacts) Sea dredging and deep-sea mining may have a negative direct impact on coastal lagoons and the seabed and can target areas with high nature conservation value and/or valuable fisheries (IRP-UNEP, forthcoming). Deep-sea mining is likely to cause a great many adverse impacts on deep-sea ecosystems by increasing release of toxic substances and the agitation of sediments (UNDP et al., 2016). The potential impacts of deep-sea mining are in focus, especially for governments of small island developing countries that depend on marine life. However, little is known about the full impacts of this practice (CCSI et al., 2016; IRP-UNEP, forthcoming). [Target UN 14.1; 14.2; 14.7]

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Materials are shipped via maritime transport, with the associated negative impacts on the marine environment [Target UN 14.1]

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Some mining activities might have radioactivity leaks that could end in the marine environment (IRP-UNEP, forthcoming) [Target UN 14.1]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Raw materials are essential for the development of new technologies to improve the environmental performance of minerals processing, possibly reducing disposal of tailings into the sea [Target UN 14.1]

MANUFACTURING SECTOR

• *(potential adverse impacts)* Raw material facilities release pollutants into soil, air, and water that may find their way into the marine environment, subsequently impacting life below water. [Target UN 14.1]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Raw materials are essential for the development of end-of-pipe technologies for pollution abatement and new technologies to optimize industrial processes, with the possible subsequent reduction of pollutant releases [Target UN 14.1]

END-OF-LIFE PHASE

• (*potential adverse impacts*) If not properly managed, waste disposal, especially hazardous waste handling, close to marine and coastal ecosystems can have negative impacts. [Target UN 14.1]

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

• UN Framework:

- (Target) 14.1 By 2025, prevent and significantly reduce marine pollution of all kinds, in particular from land-based activities, including marine debris and nutrient pollution
- (Target) 14.2 By 2020, sustainably manage and protect marine and coastal ecosystems to avoid significant adverse impacts, strengthen their resilience, and achieve healthy and productive oceans
- 14.5.1 Coverage of protected areas in relation to marine areas
- (Target) 14.7 By 2030, increase the economic benefits to small island developing States and least developed countries from the sustainable use of marine resources, including through sustainable management of fisheries, aquaculture, and tourism

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

None

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 2 Zero hunger
- SDG 6 Clean water and sanitation
- SDG 15 Life on land

RELATED EU POLICY INITIATIVES

• Industrial Emissions Directive 2010/75/EU and Best Available Techniques (BAT) reference documents

• Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the Community action in the field of water policy"

• Directive 2006/21/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the management of waste from extraction industries

• Blue Growth opportunities for marine and maritime sustainable growth, COM(2012) 494 final

4.15 SDG 15: Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss



MINING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) Mining is one of the most widespread and invasive land uses that causes land degradation (Cherlet et al., 2018). Mining activities can lead to deforestation, desertification, and loss of biological productivity (UNDP et al., 2016). This arises out of practices such as land clearance (to access deposits, storage, waste management, etc.) and material extraction, which, apart from the direct removal of plant cover and material, also reduce soil particles size and subsequently favours erosion. These impacts also occur during exploration and post-closure.

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Abandoned sites, whose stabilisation and restoration typically requires long-term effort, have endemic problems such as the accumulation of large amounts of waste and reactive materials (e.g. tailings rich in sulphide minerals leading to acid mine drainage) (Cherlet et al., 2018).

• *(potential adverse impacts)* Artisanal mining presents another set of problems, e.g., soil pollution in gold extraction due to the uncontrolled use of chemicals (Cherlet et al., 2018).

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Loss of natural or agricultural land subsequently reduces the biomass provision capacity of the area and the carbon capture capacity (United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) et al., 2016). [Indicator UN 15.1.1; 15.3.1; 15.4.2] [Indicator EUROSTAT 15.10; 15.30; 15.50]

• (potential adverse impacts) Mining can cause biodiversity loss by negatively impacting forest, mixed agricultural/forest, and/or low impact agricultural areas. Ecosystems can be directly removed and/or fragmented, and/or affected by air, water, and soil pollution (IRP-UNEP, forthcoming), and by increasing vehicle traffic (UNDP et al., 2016). This can be particularly relevant in areas with high nature conservation value and high vulnerability. These impacts may be irreversible. They also take place during exploration and post-closure. Mining industries often invest fund activities to offset their negative impacts on biodiversity. [Indicator UN 15.a.1]

FORESTRY

• (*potential adverse impacts*) Forestry activities can lead to biodiversity loss through land clearance and cultivation of high yield/commercial forest species, which is sometimes based on alien species. [Indicator UN 15.1.1; 15.2.1; EUROSTAT 15.11]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Forest landscape restoration, continuous cover forestry, selective and mixed planting, close-to-nature silviculture, agroforestry systems, assisted natural regeneration, family forestry, community-based forest management, etc., are options/strategies to preserve biological diversity, diversify forest wood, and non-wood products, and promote additional ecosystem services such as cultural and

recreational opportunities and the preservation of historical/religious heritage. (Nature's Contributions to People; Díaz et al. 2018). [Indicator UN 15.2.1]

• (*potential positive contributions*) The demand for differentiated wood and non-wood products (mushrooms, truffles, berries, resins, etc.) requires a forest management targeting the valorisation of multiple species' stands or mix alternative activities (e.g. agroforestry systems).

• (*potential positive contributions*) Re-establishing active forest management in degraded or abandoned lands facilitates landscape heterogeneity and the subsequent creation of ecological hotspots and corridors (green infrastructure network; trees outside forests) for large mammals or migratory birds (increasing species richness and reducing biodiversity loss).

MANUFACTURING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) Manufacturing facilities can impact biodiversity because they cause land use change, the release of pollutants into the air, water and soil pollution, and increased vehicle traffic (UNDP et al., 2016). However, the impacts are generally more localized in space and time than for mining activities. Accidents can pose large and/or acute impacts on biodiversity. [Indicator UN 15.1.1; 15.3.1; 15.4.2; 15.5.1] [Indicator EUROSTAT 15.10; 15.30; 15.60; 15.61]

• (*potential positive contributions*) Raw materials are essential for the development of end-of-pipe technologies for pollution abatement and new technologies to improve the environmental performance of mineral processing and production. [Indicator UN 15.3.1; 15.4.2; 15.51] [Indicator EUROSTAT 15.60; 15.61]

END-OF-LIFE PHASE

• (*potential adverse impacts*) If not properly managed, waste disposal can impact land ecosystems negatively, especially in the case of hazardous waste handling.

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - o 15.1.1 Forest area as a proportion of total land area
 - 15.2.1 Progress towards sustainable forest management
 - o 15.3.1 Proportion of land that is degraded over total land area
 - 15.4.2 Mountain Green Cover Index
 - 15.5.1 Red List Index
 - 15.8.1 Proportion of countries adopting relevant national legislation and adequately resourcing the prevention or control of invasive alien species
 - 15.a.1 Official development assistance and public expenditure on conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity and ecosystems
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - \circ 15.10 Share of forest area
 - o 15.30 Artificial land cover per capita
 - o 15.50 Estimated soil erosion by water
 - \circ 15.60 Common bird index
 - o 15.61 Grassland butterfly index

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

• Felling rates as percentage of net forest increment (indicator 22 'Sustainable wood supply', EC 2016)

Wood growing stock in forest available for wood supply (indicator 24 'Wood supply', EC 2018a)

RELATED SDGs

- SDG 2 Zero hunger
- SDG 6 Clean water and sanitation
- SDG 11 Sustainable cities and communities
- SDG 13 Climate action
- SDG 14 Life below water

RELATED EU POLICY INITIATIVES

- Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora
- Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 on the conservation of wild birds
- Our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU biodiversity strategy to 2020, COM(2011) 244
- Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection, COM(2006) 231
- A new EU Forest Strategy: for forests and the forest-based sector, COM(2013) 659 final

4.16 SDG 16: Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels



MINING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) Especially in mining communities in developing countries, conflicts and social tensions can arise due to the inequitable distribution of benefits and costs to communities or because of limited access to resources. Conflicts between companies and illegal miners as well as politically motivated killings of anti-mining activists may occur (e.g. Abuya, 2016; Oyarzún and Oyarzún, 2011; Switzer, 2001). [Indicator UN 16.1.2; 16.10.1].

• (potential adverse impacts) Human rights abuses related to mining activities can occur for different reasons. In the case of Large Scale Mining, mining-induced land loss can threaten the livelihoods of indigenous peoples as they rely on natural resources and land for their subsistence. Contamination and environmental destruction can similarly compromise the right to maintain access to existing water supplies and can cause severe health problems.

• (potential adverse impacts) In Artisanal and Small Scale Mining labour related human rights problems stand out. This is most apparent with problems of child labour and bad working conditions, which can be observed in many parts of the world. Poverty, a low level of mechanization, inefficient extraction methods, and insufficient knowledge and expertise are part of the root causes to these problems. A detailed analysis of the human rights risks in mining is available in a report by Max-Planck and BGR (2016). [Indicator UN 8.7.1]

• (potential adverse impacts) Corruption in the mining sector to obtain licences and permits or to sway judicial decision can occur. Corruption can create huge revenue losses for public coffers and is one of the main causes of the so called "resource curse" in resource-rich countries (Kolstad and Søreide, 2009; OECD, 2016a). Several initiatives are in place to improve transparency and good governance in the extraction sector. [Indicator UN 16.5.1; 16.5.2; EUROSTAT 16.50]

FORESTRY

• (potential positive contributions) Participatory and inclusive governance through forest management concessions may reduce conflicts between local stakeholders (private vs. public; large companies vs. smallholders), guarantee access rights to resources from local communities, and balance the economic revenues from forest management with local needs (e.g. Karsenty and Vermeulen, 2017).

MANUFACTURING SECTOR

• (potential adverse impacts) The so called "conflict minerals" can be traded internationally and finish in final products manufactured in the EU. However, importers of some minerals and metals (e.g. Tin, Tantalum, Tungsten, and Gold) from high-risk and conflict areas will have to perform due diligence in order to ensure that they source responsibly. This will be a legal requirement for the EU companies from 2021 (European

Union, 2017b) and other countries have similar regulations already in place. The OECD has published the "Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas" which is the technical basis of the EU Regulation.

• Similarly, the Council Regulation (EC) No 2368/2002 sets out the criteria for importing or exporting rough diamonds in order to ensure the requirements of the 'Kimberley Process¹⁷ are adhered to'.

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - o 16.1.2 Conflict-related deaths per 100,000 population, by sex, age, and cause
 - 16.10.1 Number of verified cases of killing, kidnapping, enforced disappearance, arbitrary detention, and torture of journalists, associated media personnel, trade unionists, and human rights advocates in the previous 12 months
 - $_{\odot}$ 8.7.1 Proportion and number of children aged 5–17 years engaged in child labour, by sex and age
 - 16.5.1 Proportion of persons who had at least one contact with a public official and who paid a bribe to a public official, or were asked for a bribe by those public officials during the previous 12 months
 - 16.5.2 Proportion of businesses that had at least one contact with a public official and that paid a bribe to a public official, or were asked for a bribe by those public officials during the previous 12 months
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - 16.50 Corruption Perception Index

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

• Geographical concentration and governance (Indicator 4, EC 2016; EC 2018a)

RELATED SDGs

- GSDG 8 Decent work and economic growth
- GSDG 10 Reduced inequalities

RELATED EU POLICY INITIATIVES

- Regulation (EU) 2017/821 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 May 2017 laying down supply chain due diligence obligations for European Union importers of tin, tantalum, and tungsten, their ores, and gold originating from conflict-affected and high-risk areas
- Council Regulation (EC) No 2368/2002 implementing the Kimberley Process certification scheme for the international trade in rough diamonds

¹⁷ https://www.kimberleyprocess.com/

4.17 SDG 17: Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize the Global Partnership for Sustainable Development



CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES

• All of the raw material sectors can contribute to the achievement of the SDGs. The European Innovation Partnership (EIP) on Raw Materials promotes innovation in the sector by financing the 'Raw Material Commitments' (see Section 5.2), which are joint undertakings by several partners that make a contribution to achieving the EIP actions and targets. The EIP annual monitoring survey revealed that in 2016 these Commitments were mainly contributed to SDG 12 (Responsible consumption and production), SDG 8 (Decent work and economic growth) and SDG 9 (Industry, infrastructure and innovation) (EC, 2017b).

MINING SECTOR

• Mining companies can play an important role in contributing to sustainable development. For instance, in order to convert mineral wealth into positive economic growth, it is crucial to pay a reasonable and fair share of taxes and promote transparency in the flow of mining revenues between the private sector and the state (ICMM, 2018).

• Deploying environmentally sound technologies in their operations, employing people, and sharing geological data are other ways of strengthening the partnership for the SDGs, and promote sustainable development according to CCSI et al. (2016). [Indicators UN 17.7.1; 17.11.1; EUROSTAT 17.30]

FORESTRY

• (potential positive contributions) The World Bank and the International Finance Corporation promote investments to support improved forest management in both forest conservation areas and productive forests, particularly in developing countries. The main purposes of this are to improve the competitiveness of small and medium enterprises, encourage private sector activity, guarantee good governance (improved forest management), and strengthen dialog between stakeholders in the forest sector (World Bank, 2011).

SDGs MONITORING INDICATORS

- UN Framework:
 - 17.7.1 Total amount of approved funding for developing countries to promote the development, transfer, dissemination, and diffusion of environmentally sound technologies
 - 17.11.1 Developing countries' and least developed countries' share of global exports
- EUROSTAT Framework:
 - 17.30 EU imports from developing countries

RELATED RAW MATERIALS SCOREBOARD INDICATORS

None

RELATED SDGs

- GSDG 16 Mining, peace, justice, and strong institutions
- GSDG 10 Reduced inequalities

RELATED EU POLICY INITIATIVES

• Next steps for a sustainable European future European action for sustainability, COM (2016) 739 final

• Proposal for a new European Consensus on Development Our World, Our Dignity, Our Future COM (2016) 740 final

5 Role of European Policies

This section briefly describes various EU policies that play a major role in strengthening the contribution of raw materials to the SDGs. Only those policies whose objectives and targets are explicitly oriented to maintaining, enhancing or further developing the economic, social, and environmental sustainability of the raw materials' supply chain were selected. The list of policies is not exhaustive as other policies currently in force may be pertinent to some specific SDGs.

Table 1 shows the linkages between the policies considered and the SDGs, according to their relevance to raw material sustainability.

	185 1/11	2.55	3 denotes and a second	4 8800 1	• •	6 marian	7	8 internetiet M					13 ::::	14 marata 14 marata 14 marata	15 ≋i ∳~~		17 11111
Raw Materials Policy (2008)								x	x			x					
Raw Materials Innovation Partnership (2013)								x	x			x					
Resource efficiency and Circular Economy Action Plan (2015)						x		x	x		x	x	x				
Conflict Minerals Regulation (2017)												x				х	
European Pillar of Social Rights (2017)	x		x	x	x		х	x		x							
Forest strategy (2013)	x	х					х	x	x			x	x		x		
Industrial policy (2017)								х	х			х	х				
Policies within the 2030 Climate and Energy Framework												x	x				

Table 1 Examples of EU policies and potential contribution to SDGs

5.1 Raw Materials Initiative

The raw material markets have shown strong growth in demand over the last few years, especially from emerging countries. In addition, raw materials supply to the EU has been affected negatively by trade barriers. Due to the economic importance of manufacturing sectors and their sensitivity to trade of raw materials being hindered, in 2008 the European Commission adopted the Raw Materials Initiative (RMI) (EC, 2008).

The RMI is a communication from the EC which strives to secure reliable and undistorted access to raw materials to sustain and improve competitiveness and growth of the EU economy. Therefore, ensuring secure sustainable access to these raw materials is crucial to the success of the Lisbon Partnership for growth and jobs¹⁸ and to achieving the

¹⁸ EC (2005): Common Actions for Growth and Employment: The Community Lisbon Programme, COM(2005) 330 final

objectives of the Europe 2020 strategy (EC, 2010b). It covers all non-agriculture, nonenergy raw materials used by the EU industry. The RMI proposes the establishment of an integrated strategy with three pillars, which aim to:

- ensure fair access to raw materials from global markets;
- set proper framework conditions within the EU to foster sustainable supply of raw materials within the EU;
- promote overall resource efficiency and recycling to reduce the EU's demand for primary raw materials.

As promoted by the RMI, the EC regularly publishes a list of critical raw materials (CRM), based on their economic importance and supply risk. The first list was published in 2011¹⁹ and revised in 2014²⁰. In 2017²¹ a third list of CRM was published based on a refined methodology (EC, 2017a).

Given the objectives of the RMI, the most explicit links to the SDGs are with SDGs 8, 9, and 12. An overview of policies and actions related to non-energy, non-agricultural raw materials (led by various Directorate Generals of the European Commission), and their contribution to SDGs has been published on the DG GROW website²². This document also links some policy actions to SDG 15 (because they aim to reconcile biodiversity protection and extractive activities or identify best practices for land rehabilitation and restoration by non-energy mineral extractive industry), and SDG 16 (for support for SMEs in the conflict minerals policy).

5.2 European Innovation Partnership on Raw Materials

The European Innovation Partnerships (EIPs) are a new approach to EU research and innovation. They "act across the whole research and innovation chain, bringing together all relevant factors at EU, national, and regional levels." "EIPs streamline, simplify, and coordinate existing instruments and initiatives better and complement them with new actions where necessary. This should make it easier for partners to co-operate and achieve better and faster results compared to what is already in existence. Therefore, they build upon relevant existing tools and actions, and where this makes sense, they integrate them into a single coherent policy framework"²³. Up until now five EIPs have been established, the EIP on Raw Materials (EIP-RM) being one of them.

With regard to the general EU industrial policy, the EIP-RM plays an important role in meeting the objectives of the Commission's flagship initiatives Innovation Union and Resource Efficient Europe. More specifically, the EIP-RM is implementing the RMI stakeholder platform that brings together representatives from industry, public services, academia, and NGOs. Its mission is to provide high-level guidance to the European Commission, Members States, and private actors on innovative approaches to the challenges related to raw materials. To foster innovative solutions, the EIP-RM developed its Strategic Implementation Plan (SIP)²⁴ describing the specific objectives and targets as

¹⁹ Communication From The Commission To The European Parliament, The Council, The European Economic And Social Committee And The Committee Of The Regions Tackling The Challenges In Commodity Markets And On Raw Materials COM(2011) 25 final

²⁰ Communication On the review of the list of critical raw materials for the EU and the implementation of the Raw Materials Initiative COM(2014)0297 final

²¹ Communication From The Commission To The European Parliament, The Council, The European Economic And Social Committee And The Committee Of The Regions On the 2017 list of Critical Raw Materials for the EU COM(2017)0490 final

²² Commission contributions to the implementing of SDGs in the scope of non-energy extractive industries - policies derived from the Raw Materials Initiative and trade, environmental, research and innovation, development, and fiscal transparency policies, Document date: 07/09/2017 - Created by GROW.DDG1.C.4 - Publication date: 12/09/2017 (<u>https://ec.europa.eu/growth/sectors/raw-materials/policy-strategy_en</u>)

²³ <u>https://ec.europa.eu/research/innovation-union/index.cfm?pg=eip</u>

²⁴ DG GROW (2013): Strategic Implementation Plan (SIP), endorsed by the EIP's High Level Steering Group on 25 September 2013. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/growth/tools-databases/eip-raw-materials/en/content/strategic-implementation-plan-sip-0#Read%20EIP%20docs</u>

well as how they plan to achieve these through a set of 95 concrete actions, which include research and innovation coordination, technologies for raw materials production, substitution, framework conditions, knowledge and skills, and international cooperation.

To implement these actions the European Commission launched several Calls for Commitments²⁵ to Member States, industry, academia, and other relevant stakeholders. The Raw Material Commitments (RMCs) are joint undertakings by several partners who commit themselves to carrying out activities that will contribute to achieving the actions and targets of the EIP within the period 2014-2020. The EC tracks the progress made by the RMCs by means of the Annual Monitoring Report.

For the first time, the Annual Monitoring Report 2016 (EC, 2017b) assessed what UN SDGs were addressed by the activities of the various RMCs as perceived by the RMC performers. More than 200 linkages were identified, which refer to all of the 17 SDGs, with significant differences between them. While all SDGs were addressed by at least three Commitments, almost half of the linkages (49%) are concentrated on three SDGs (SDG 8, SDG 9, SDG 12), outstanding from the remainders. SDG 12 was addressed by almost two out of three respondents (65%). A second group of frequently addressed SDGs comprised four SDGs (SDG 17, SDG 6, SDG 15, SDG 11), with each SDG showing more than 5% of the total linkages. The following observations were made about the three dominating SDGs:

- SDG 12 'Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns': the key addressed targets concern the sustainable management of natural resources, waste reduction, and environmentally sound management of chemicals and wastes;
- SDG 8 'Promote sustained, inclusive, and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment, and decent work for all': the focus is mainly on increasing economic productivity and improving resource efficiency;
- SDG 9 'Innovation and infrastructure': enhancing the scientific research and technological capabilities.

5.3 **Resource efficiency and Circular Economy Action Plan**

The resource-efficient Europe initiative (EC, 2011a) is part of the Europe 2020 Strategy for a smart, sustainable, and inclusive growth (EC, 2010b). One of the main building blocks of this initiative is the Roadmap to a Resource Efficient Europe (EC, 2011b). It proposes ways to increase resource productivity and decouple economic growth from resource use and its environmental impact. It sets out a framework for the design and implementation of future actions, outlining the structural and technological changes needed by 2050, including milestones to be reached by 2020. The roadmap identifies areas where policy action can make a real difference, and also identifies relevant bottlenecks like inconsistencies in policy and market failures. Key resources are considered from a life-cycle and value-chain perspective. Nutrition, housing, and mobility are identified as the sectors responsible for the greatest environmental impacts, and the roadmap has subsequently proposed specific actions for these areas.

Building of the Resource Efficiency Roadmap, the Circular Economy action plan (EC, 2015b) established a concrete and ambitious programme to stimulate Europe's transition towards a circular economy by contributing to 'closing the loop' of product life cycles (SDG 12). The action plan aimed to simultaneously boost EU competitiveness, foster sustainable economic growth, and generate new jobs (SDG 8).

The measures in the action plan cover the whole life cycle of products from production and consumption to waste management as well as the market for secondary raw

²⁵ Call for commitments were launched in October 2013 and December 2015. The current call was launched in June 2018. It is an open call with biannual cut-off dates.

materials. Innovation and investment in the field have been promoted through the H2020 programme²⁶. The annex to the action plan sets out a timeline showing when the actions are due to be completed. Among the topics included in the Circular Economy Action plan are:

- promotion of the reparability, upgradability, durability, and recyclability of products by developing product requirements relevant to the circular economy in its future work come under the Ecodesign Directive (European Union, 2009);
- revised legislative proposals on waste, which set targets to reduce waste and increase recycling²⁷, and which should also incentivise better product design;
- a new proposal for a directive on waste (EC, 2008);
- boosting the market for secondary materials and water reuse.

Together with food waste and plastics, the action plan considers the following to be priority action areas:

- critical raw materials: the Commission will encourage their recovery and action by Member States in its revised proposals on waste;
- construction and demolition waste: the Commission will take action to ensure the recovery of valuable resources and appropriate waste management. and facilitate the assessment of the environmental performance of buildings;
- biomass and bio-based products: the Commission will promote efficient use of biobased resources²⁸ and will establish a target for recycling wood packaging and a provision to ensure the separate collection of bio-waste within the revised waste policies.

Furthermore, the more recent 2018 Circular Economy Package (EC, 2018c) has been developed in order to continue the implementation of the 2015 Circular Economy action plan. The package adopted an EU Strategy for plastics, developed a monitoring framework to measure progress toward a circular economy (EC, 2018d), and analysed the links between critical raw materials and the circular economy (EC, 2018e) among other actions.

The objectives of the resource efficiency and circular economy policies provides insight into SDG 12 on Responsible consumption and production, which includes the targets of sustainable management and efficient use of natural resources and the reduction of waste generation through prevention, reduction, recycling, and reuse. These targets are also relevant for Goal 11 on sustainable cities and communities. Other relevant links lie with SDG 8 (on economic growth) and SDG 9 (on industry and innovation) due to the important economic repercussion of this policy, and with SDG 13 on climate action due to the potential for a circular economy to reduce air emissions.

²⁶http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/en/news/horizon-2020-work-programme-2016-2017published.

²⁷ a common EU target for recycling 65% of municipal waste by 2030; a common EU target for recycling 75% of packaging waste by 2030; a binding landfill target to reduce landfill to maximum of 10% of municipal waste by 2030; a ban on landfilling of separately collected waste; promotion of economic instruments to discourage landfilling; simplified and improved definitions and harmonised calculation methods for recycling rates throughout the EU; concrete measures to promote re-use and stimulate industrial symbiosis - turning one industry's by-product into another industry's raw material; economic incentives for producers to put greener products on the market and support recovery and recycling schemes (e.g. for packaging, batteries, electric and electronic equipment, vehicles).

²⁸ through a series of measures including guidance and dissemination of best practices on the cascading use of biomass and support for innovation in the bioeconomy.

5.4 Conflict Minerals Regulation

In conflict zones and politically unstable countries, forced labour and human rights abuses can occur in the extraction of metals and minerals. Moreover, mineral trade can finance armed groups and contribute to perpetuate wars and corruption. Conflict minerals came to public attention in the 1990s and 2000s when some NGOs denounced the way that the growing demand for mobile phones and other electronic products, as well as jewellery, was fuelling violence and atrocities in several African countries. In 1998, Global Witness published an alarming report on the role of diamonds in the Angolan conflict (Global Witness, 1998). Attention grew until reaching the UN General Assembly where the issue of "conflict diamonds" was more specifically discussed, leading to the formulation of its definition²⁹ and the establishment of sanctions in 2000. In 2003, outrageous situations were described in Sierra Leone by the non-governmental organisation Partnership Africa Canada (PAC)³⁰. In general, this media coverage proved that the illicit trade of diamonds also funded brutal wars in numerous African countries, including the Central African Republic, Democratic Republic of Congo, and Liberia, resulting in the death and displacement of millions of people. Following this, similar situations have been described in reports published by other NGOs on gold among others and the mineral ores that produce the metals tantalum, tin, and tungsten (often referred as 3TG).

In response to the conflict diamonds issues, the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme³¹ was set up in 2003 as a tripartite initiative, hence gathering governments, the diamond industry, and civil society organisations. The aim is to prevent the flow of conflict diamonds while helping to protect legitimate trade in rough diamonds.

Concerning conflict minerals (3TG), the EU Regulation (EU 2017) aims to stop conflict minerals and metals from being exported to the EU; preventing the use of conflict minerals in EU smelting and refining industries; avoiding the abuse of mine workers; and supporting local development. Therefore, it contributes to SDG 16 on peace, justice, and strong institutions, and to SDG 12 on responsible consumption and production.

The EU regulation, which will take effect in 2021, applies to companies importing tin, tantalum, tungsten, and gold (in the form of mineral ores, concentrates, or processed metals) from high-risk and conflict-affected areas. Guidelines for the identification of these areas are currently under development. The Regulation requires that EU companies in the supply chain ensure they import these materials responsibly and from conflict-free sources only. It is built upon the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for responsible mineral sourcing (OECD, 2016b). The due diligence is an "on-going, proactive, and reactive process through which companies can ensure that they respect human rights and do not contribute to conflict". It is considered to be the international benchmark for supply chain due diligence.

5.5 European Pillar of Social Rights

The EU Pillar of Social Rights (EC, 2017c) aims to support fair and well-functioning labour markets and welfare systems in order to build a more inclusive and fairer Union. Following a broad public consultation in 2016, which involved citizens, social partners, civil society, Member States, and EU Institutions, the European Pillar of Social Rights was jointly proclaimed by the European Parliament, the Council, and the Commission at the Gothenburg Social Summit for Fair Jobs and Growth³² on 17 November 2017. The Pillar is conceived for the member states of the Euro area, but applies to any member state willing to adopt it. Regional and national authorities have a key role in implementing and delivering on the principles of the Pillar, which provides a framework and provides

²⁹ "Rough diamonds which are used by rebel movements to finance their military activities, including attempts to undermine or overthrow legitimate governments" United Nations, general Assembly Resolution 55/56, December 2000.

³⁰ PAC changed its name to IMPACT in 2017.

³¹ https://www.kimberleyprocess.com/en/kpcs-core-document

³² <u>http://www.socialsummit17.se/</u>

directions for establishing inclusive and socially sustainable policies. The Pillar is based on twenty principles and three areas:

- Equal opportunities and access to the labour market
- Fair working conditions
- Social protection and inclusion

The Pillar is supported by a Social Scoreboard³³ of key indicators which screen the employment and social performances of participating Member States. The scoreboard serves as a reference framework to monitor societal progress.

Given its nature, the Social Pillar is supposed to contribute to all SDGs related to social sustainability and the labour market, including no poverty (1), good health and well-being (3), quality education (4), gender equality (5), affordable energy (7), decent work and economic growth (8), and reduced inequalities (10).

5.6 Forest Strategy

In 2013 the Commission adopted a new EU Forest Strategy (building on the previous strategy adopted in 1998) (EC, 2013). Among other aspects, the new strategy identifies key measures to strengthen sustainability in the whole forest sector in the EU while increasing growth and jobs in rural areas.

The EU Forest Strategy considers that forest biomass is currently the most important source of renewable energy, which now accounts for around half of the EU's total renewable energy consumption.

The strategy was accompanied by a document analysing the state of the EU forests and the related policy environment, and by a blueprint for the EU forest-based industries. The latter describes the EU forest-based industries' overall sectoral economic and technological outlooks. It also provides sub-sectoral profiles and analyses the main challenges of its four component industries: woodworking industries, the furniture industry, the pulp and paper manufacturing and converting industries, and the printing industry, which represent about 7% of EU manufacturing GDP and nearly 3.5 million jobs. Forests are also affected by a broad array of sectoral EU policies and initiatives such as those concerning biodiversity, climate change, or energy.

Considering the wood products' chain, the pathways of the EU Forest Strategy mainly refer to improving the sustainability in the extraction, production, and use of wood to tackle social-economic, environmental and climate change issues in the EU. In particular, the Strategy aims to promote the use of wood as a renewable and climate-friendly material, along with maintaining the multi-functionality and resilience of forest ecosystems by applying sustainable forest management, which has a major relevance for SDGs 13 and 15. In this way, the substitution effects of wood products for building and heating are expected to be elicited (major relevance for SDGs 12 and 13). The EU Forest Strategy also suggests evaluating the potential for wood supply and sustainable wood mobilisation, and the efficiency of all of the manufacturing processes (SDG 9). Such targets may be achieved by creating good-practice guidance to incorporate the "cascading principle" along the value chain, which has a major relevance for SDGs 7 and 12. In the EU Forest Strategy, the European Commission, Member States, and stakeholders are also asked to stimulate innovation, competitiveness, and knowledge base in the entire forest sector, for example, by facilitating trade conditions for wood products as well as the internationalisation of EU Forest-based Industries (major relevance for SDGs 9, 12). In addition, access to third markets by EU forest-based industries, and exchange of information on traded products for consumers (import/export) (major relevance for SDG

³³<u>https://composite-indicators.jrc.ec.europa.eu/social-scoreboard/;</u>

http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/european-pillar-of-social-rights/indicators/social-scoreboard-indicators

17) should be provided. The EU Forest Strategy is intended to promote cooperation and partnership between relevant stakeholders (private-public, productive-scientific) (major relevance for SDGs 8, 17). The progress made towards the strategic orientations of the EU Forest Strategy is being currently assessed.

Linked to the EU Forest Strategy, the EU Timber Regulation aims at limiting (or even prohibiting) the trade of illegally harvested timber mainly through a "due diligence" mechanism, and improving transparency of information about timber suppliers and customers. The EU timber Regulation applies to both imported and domestically produced timber. Indirectly, the EU Timber Regulation may improve sustainable forest management (SDGs 12, 13 and 15), strengthen access of local communities to using the resources (SDG 1), foster economic growth in the forestry sector especially in developing countries, including the availability of decent works (SDG 8), and develop the traceability of harvested wood products from sources to beneficiaries (SDG 12).

5.7 Industrial policy

The Communication 'For a European Industrial Renaissance' (EC, 2014) stresses the need to promote growth and modernization in the EU after the recent crisis period and called on EU countries to recognise the central importance of industry for creating jobs and growth. In this context, the EU's Industrial Policy highlights the need to increase industry's share of GDP to 20 % by 2020.

More recently, in September 2017 the Commission adopted a renewed EU industrial policy strategy (EC, 2017d), which further aims to empower European industries to continue delivering sustainable growth and jobs. The European strategy sets the framework for a series of related initiatives and actions. This strategy outlines the main considerations, directions, and priorities for creating jobs and growth, which relates to SDG 8; and for remaining competitive in a global context at the forefront of the low-carbon and sophisticated products industry, linked to SDG 9. The strategy acknowledges that embracing technological breakthroughs while making the transition to a low-carbon and circular economy by 2050 is a major challenge as well as an opportunity for EU industry, and relates to SDG 12. The strategy describes the challenges and opportunities associated to fulfilling the climate commitments, very much linked to SDG 13, where initiatives to count on a full value chain in the EU (e.g. for batteries) are considered to be crucial. The strategy also acknowledges the relevance of raw materials for the EU manufacturing industries, especially those critical to the economy (see Section 5.1 on the Raw Materials Initiative). It also highlights the relevance of investment and skills development in order to foster state of the art technologies and applications (SDG 4).

5.8 2030 Climate and Energy Framework

Direct greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from the raw materials industries account for 8% of all GHG emissions in the EU³⁴. Most GHG emissions from these industries, which are generally considered energy-intensive, originate from the production and use of energy. So far, overall decreasing GHG emission trends have been observed for the EU raw materials sectors due to decreasing production volumes and efficiency improvements, particularly related to changes in the fuel mix (EC, 2016c).

The EU 2030 Climate and Energy framework³⁵ comprises cross-cutting strategies to further reduce the GHG emissions from all sectors by 2030 (on the basis of the EU 2020 Climate and Energy package³⁶ achievements), and improve energy efficiency and use of

³⁴ JRC calculations based on the Emissions Database for Global Atmospheric Research (EDGAR) version 4. Data for 2012. See also EC 2018b.

³⁵ <u>https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/strategies/2030 en</u>

³⁶ https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/strategies/2020 en

renewable sources in the EU. In particular, the targets for the year 2030 are to (i) reduce the GHG emissions of 40% (in comparison with 1990 levels), (ii) use 27% of renewable energy sources, and (iii) improve energy efficiency of 27%. Targets related to the second and the third points are currently under review and being further updated to meet the SDGs as set in the Energy Union framework³⁷ (see "progress" column in Table 2 for details). Table 2 summarizes the main climate policies concerning climate-friendly raw materials' extraction, processing, consumption, and use.

Table 2 List of climate-related EU policies concerning the sustainability of the raw materials sectors.

	Relevance for raw materials	Relevance for SDGs	Progress	
Emission Trading System (energy activities, production and processing of ferrous material, mineral industry, production plants for pulp, paper and board) – Directive (EU) 2018/410 ³⁸ ; Directive 2003/87/EC ³⁹	The "cap and trade principle" applies: emissions exceeding the allowed cap may be traded and exchanged among companies producing and processing raw materials (e.g. mineral industry), or deriving energy from such processes (i.e. mineral oil refineries, coke ovens).	SDGs 12, 13	Approved in March 2018	
Effort Sharing Regulation – (EU) 2018/842 ⁴⁰	Annual GHG emissions targets are established (30 % below 2005 levels in 2030) for the following sectors: transport, buildings, energy, industrial processes, and product use, agriculture and waste.	SDGs 12, 13	Approved in May 2018	
LULUCF Regulation – (EU) 2018/841 ⁴¹	The accounting of GHG emissions and removals from land use, land use change, and forestry sector (LULUCF; including harvested wood products) is implemented. The GHG emissions savings associated with "substitution effects" of wood (for energy and materials) are implicitly accounted in other GHG sectors.	SDGs 12, 13, 15	Approved in May 2018	
Renewable Energy Directive –2009/28/EC ⁴²	By adopting national renewable energy action plans, MS set specific targets to fulfil at least 32% ⁴³ renewables in the final energy consumption, about average on an EU scale. For each MS, targets take into account the	SDGs 12, 13	A political agreement including a binding energy efficiency target for the EU for 2030 was reached	

³⁷ <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/priorities/energy-union-and-climate_en</u>

⁴³ <u>http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release STATEMENT-18-4155 en.htm</u>

³⁸ Directive (EU) 2018/410 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 March 2018 amending Directive 2003/87/EC to enhance cost-effective emission reductions and low-carbon investments, and Decision (EU) 2015/1814 (Text with EEA relevance). URL: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2018/410/oj</u>

³⁹ Directive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 October 2003 establishing a scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC (Text with EEA relevance). URL: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2003/87/oj</u>

⁴⁰ Regulation (EU) 2018/842 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 on binding annual greenhouse gas emission reductions by Member States from 2021 to 2030 contributing to climate action to meet commitments under the Paris Agreement and amending Regulation (EU) No 525/2013 (Text with EEA relevance). URL: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2018/842/oi</u>

⁴¹ Regulation (EU) 2018/841 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 on the inclusion of greenhouse gas emissions and removals from land use, land use change and forestry in the 2030 climate and energy framework, and amending Regulation (EU) No 525/2013 and Decision No 529/2013/EU (Text with EEA relevance). URL: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2018/841/oj</u>

⁴² Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2009 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources and amending and subsequently repealing Directives 2001/77/EC and 2003/30/EC (Text with EEA relevance). URL: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2009/28/oj</u>

	Relevance for raw materials	Relevance for SDGs	Progress		
	starting point and the overall potential for renewables		on 14 June 2018 ⁴⁴		
Energy Efficiency Directive -2012/27/EU ⁴⁵	MS have to develop energy measures for improving energy savings for consumers and industry, such as to (i) improve the efficiency of heating systems, (ii) purchase energy efficient buildings (for the public sector), (iii) better manage energy consumption, (iv) monitor efficiency levels	SDGs 12, 13	Clean Energy for all Europeans package ⁴⁶		
Adaptation Strategy – COM(2013) 216 final	Use of more resilient construction material	SDGs 13	N/A		

 ⁴⁴ <u>http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release STATEMENT-18-4155 en.htm</u>
⁴⁵ Directive 2012/27/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2012 on energy efficiency, amending Directives 2009/125/EC and 2010/30/EU and repealing Directives 2004/8/EC and 2006/32/EC Text with EEA relevance. URL: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2012/27/oj</u>
⁴⁶ <u>https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/energy-strategy-and-energy-union/clean-energy-all-europeans</u>

6 Analysis of SDGs and RM Scoreboard indicators

The indicators currently available in the UN and EUROSTAT frameworks to monitor the SDGs, and of relevance for the raw materials sectors, are summarized in this section.. Moreover, the monitoring indicators from the RM Scoreboard that have a direct link with the SDGs are identified (as already reported in each SDG section from 4.1 to 4.16).

Table 3 reports the framework of monitoring indicators as identified for each SDG that is relevant for the raw materials sector.

Table 3 SDG monitoring indicators (UN and EUROSTAT frameworks) that may be affected by raw materials activities (along their supply chain); related indicators in the Raw Materials Scoreboard (*EC, 2016c*).

	UN framework	EUROSTAT framework	RM Scoreboard 2016	RM Scoreboard 2018
GSDG 1 No poverty	1.4.2	-	7	7
GSDG 2 Zero hunger	2.3.1; 2.4.1	-	-	-
GSDG 3 Good health and well-being	3.3.1; 3.9.1	08.60; 11.50	23	25
GSDG 4 Quality education	4.3.1	04.60	10	-
GSDG 5 Gender equality	5.a.1	05.20; 05.30	-	-
GSDG 6 Clean water and sanitation	6.3.1; 6.3.2; 6.4.1; 6.4.2	06.30; 06.60	20	22
GSDG 7 Affordable and clean energy	7.1.1; 7.1.2; 7.3.1;	07.10; 07.20; 07.30; 07.40	Introduction	Introduction
GSDG 8 Decent work and economic growth	8.3.1; 8.7.1; 8.8.1	08.30; 08.60	7; 23	7; 25
GSDG 9 Industry, innovation and infrastructure	9.1.1; 9.1.2; 9.2.2; 9.4.1; 9.5.1; 9.5.2	09.10; 09.40	8; 9; 19	8, 9, 20, 21
GSDG 10 Reduced inequalities	10.7.1; 10.7.2	-	-	-
GSDG 11 Sustainable cities and communities	11.1.1; 11.2.1; 11.3.1; 11.3.2; 11.4.1; 11.6.2; 1.7.1; 11.7.2	11.10; 11.20; 11.50	19	21
GSDG 12 Responsible production and consumption	12.2.1; 12.2.2; 12.5.1; 12.6.1	12.20; 07.30; 12.41; 12.50; 12.60	15; 16; 17; 18; 21; 24	15; 16; 17; 18; 19, 23; 26
GSDG 13 Climate action	-	13.30; 13.20; 07.40	19	20
GSDG 14 Life below water	14.5.1	-	-	-
GSDG 15 Life on land	15.1.1; 15.2.1; 15.3.1; 15.4.2; 15.5.1; 15.8.1; 15.a.1	15.10; 15.30; 15.50; 15.60; 15.61	22	24
GSDG 16 Peace, justice and strong institutions	16.1.2; 16.10.1; 8.7.1; 16.5.1; 16.5.2;	16.50	4	4
GSDG 17 Partnership for the SDGs	17.7.1; 17.11.1	17.30	-	-

The indicators used in the RM Scoreboard cover most of the SDGs, with particularly good coverage of SDGs 12, 9, and 8. The SDGs that do not have corresponding indicators in

the Scoreboard are those related to zero hunger (2), gender equality (5), reduce inequalities (10), life below water (14), and partnership for the SDGs (17).

The RM Scoreboard includes various indicators related to SDG 12 on responsible consumption and production. This is the case for Domestic Materials Consumption (DMC, used in the both the UN and the EUROSTAT frameworks), recycling rates, trade of waste and scrap, and management of electronic waste.

The number of companies publishing sustainability reports is an indicator monitoring SDG 12 on responsible consumption and production. The same indicator is used in the RM Scoreboard in the cluster "Environmental and Social Sustainability". In this context, data from the Global Reporting Initiative database⁴⁷ is used.

The Scoreboard covers several indicators for SDG 9 on industry, innovation, and infrastructure: corporate R&D links to the UN indicator "research and development expenditure as a proportion of GDP" and to the EUROSTAT indicator "gross domestic expenditure on R&D". Innovation is also monitored in terms of number of patent applications in both the Scoreboard and the EUROSTAT framework. The Scoreboard indicator on greenhouse gas emissions related to production (an analysis that will expand in the 2018 update) relates to the UN indicator "CO₂ emissions per unit of value added".

SDG 8 (on decent work and economic growth) is represented in the Scoreboard by the indicator on occupational safety. While the Scoreboard focusses on non-fatal accidents at work in the raw materials sectors, the UN framework monitors both fatal and non-fatal injuries and EUROSTAT covers only fatal accidents. The number of jobs is also common to the three monitoring frameworks. However, while EUROSTAT and the Scoreboard consider employment, the UN also targets informal employment and child labour.

The Scoreboard indicator on particulate matter (PM) emissions relates to SDG 11 on sustainable cities and communities. It is noteworthy that the three monitoring frameworks focus on different components of the impact pathway: while the Scoreboard presents data on pressures (e.g. particulate matter emissions), the UN uses an air quality indicator, and EUROSTAT focuses on human exposure to pollutants.

The SDG 13 aims to increase initiatives to combat climate change. While the UN framework looks at the implementation of mitigation and adaptation strategies and the amount of resources mobilized to tackle the climate change, EUROSTAT accounts for the use of renewable energy and greenhouse gas emissions. The latter aspect is also addressed by the Scoreboard.

SDG 15 on life on land and SDG 6 on clean water and sanitation are partially addressed by the Scoreboard, also due to data limitations.

⁴⁷ http://database.globalreporting.org/search/

7 Conclusions

Raw materials play a fundamental role for human well-being and can substantially contribute to sustainable development. At the same time, their production, consumption, and end-of-life can generate several environmental and social impacts, especially in countries with weak governance In this preliminary analysis, the potential impact and contribution of raw materials to each SDG are highlighted by considering the main steps of the value chain of abiotic and biotic materials. Given the ubiquity of raw materials in modern societies, numerous links emerge with SDGs, especially when taking indirect relations into account too. Here, the most relevant, evidence-based issues of concern are taken into consideration, as reported in the scientific literature and confirmed by experts in the field.

In many cases raw materials have a twofold role as they can both contribute to and hinder the achievement of SDGs. For instance, raw materials production originates GHG emissions but their use in low-carbon energy technologies contributes to fighting climate change. Materials extraction and manufacturing can also pollute water bodies and create water stress but some materials are essential for environmental technologies and water treatment techniques. The role of raw materials for employment is also twofold: while they contribute to job creation and economic growth, workers can be exposed to negative conditions causing injuries and affecting health. While the EU supports fair labour markets and welfare systems (for instance, through the EU Pillar on Social Rights), working conditions can be particularly bad in developing countries and in the informal economy.

The analysis repeatedly stresses the potential of the forest sector to contribute to several SDGs, especially in relation to climate and biodiversity. This may suggest that the substitution of abiotic, energy-intensive materials such as concrete and steel in construction with wood in some cases can be beneficial from the point of view of sustainability. However, we also highlight the importance of sustainable forest management in order to not compromise the ecosystem's functioning and resilience, and therefore the delivery of goods and services.

The above-mentioned considerations suggest that analysing trade-offs and interlinkages between different SDGs and the various stages of the supply chain is crucial in promoting sustainable development and identifying win-win policy solutions.

The role of EU policies in enhancing positive contributions and mitigating adverse impacts is also discussed by using various examples. While the list of policies under consideration is not comprehensive, those presented here are of particular relevance for raw materials and for the circular economy, responsible production and consumption, fair working conditions, employment, etc. Some of them have a broad spectrum of objectives and aim at enhancing the potential of certain economic sectors (for instance, the Forest Strategy and the Raw Materials Initiative). Others have a more definite objective and intervene in specific area to mitigate or end adverse impacts (for instance, the Conflict Minerals Regulation).

Supporting and monitoring policies with science-based metrics is crucial for their effective implementation. In the case of raw materials, fostering the knowledge of SDGs would contribute to understanding the effective contribution of the raw materials sectors to sustainable development, and to identifying critical areas for action. In this respect, synergies can be found with the existing RM Scoreboard, which monitors the main challenges of raw materials production in the EU along the entire value chain.

The analysis of correspondences between indicators used in SDGs monitoring (UN and EUROSTAT) and in the Scoreboard shed light on indicators used in the Scoreboard that are also linked to the SDGs monitoring framework.

References

- Abuya, W.O., 2016. Mining conflicts and Corporate Social Responsibility: Titanium mining in Kwale, Kenya. Extr. Ind. Soc. 3, 485–493. doi:10.1016/j.exis.2015.12.008
- Anderson, J., Mehta, S., Epelu, E., Cohen, B., 2015. Managing leftovers: Does community forestry increase secure and equitable access to valuable resources for the rural poor? For. Policy Econ. 58, 47–55.
- Anderson, K., 1998. Are resource-abundant economies disadvantaged? Aust. J. Agric. Resour. Econ. 42, 1–23.
- Azapagic, A., 2004. Developing a framework for sustainable development indicators for the mining and minerals industry. J. Clean. Prod. 12, 639–662. doi:10.1016/S0959-6526(03)00075-1
- Bais-Moleman, A.L., Sikkema, R., Vis, M., Reumerman, P., Theurl, M.C., Erb, K.-H., 2018. Assessing wood use efficiency and greenhouse gas emissions of wood product cascading in the European Union. J. Clean. Prod. 172, 3942–3954.
- Belcher, B., Achdiawan, R., Dewi, S., 2015. Forest-Based Livelihoods Strategies Conditioned by Market Remoteness and Forest Proximity in Jharkhand, India. World Dev. 66, 269–279. doi:10.1016/J.WORLDDEV.2014.08.023
- Biggs, S., Messerschmidt, D., 2005. Social responsibility in the growing handmade paper industry of Nepal. World Dev. 33, 1821–1843.
- Blagoeva, D.T., Aves Dias, P., Marmier, A., Pavel, C.C., 2016. Assessment of potential bottlenecks along the materials supply chain for the future deployment of low-carbon energy and transport technologies in the EU, JRC Science for Policy Report (European Union, Luxembourg).
- Boukherroub, T., LeBel, L., Ruiz, A., 2017. A framework for sustainable forest resource allocation: A Canadian case study. Omega 66, 224–235.
- Cherlet, M., Hutchinson, C., Reynolds, J., Hill, J., Sommer, H., von Maltitz, G. (Eds.), 2018. World Atlas of Desertification. Publication Office of the European Union. doi:10.2760/9205
- Coderre-Proulx, M., Campbell, B., Mandé, I., 2016. International Migrant Workers in the Mining Sector. International Labour Organization, Sectoral Policies Department, Conditions of Work and Equality Department ILO, Geneve.
- Cornwall, W., 2017. The burning question. Science (80-.). doi:10.1126/science.355.6320.18
- Crenna, E., Sozzo, S., Sala, S., 2018. Natural biotic resources in LCA: Towards an impact assessment model for sustainable supply chain management. J. Clean. Prod. 172, 3669–3684. doi:10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2017.07.208
- Díaz, S., Pascual, U., Stenseke, M., Martín-López, B., Watson, R.T., Molnár, Z., Hill, R., Chan, K.M.A., Baste, I.A., Brauman, K.A., Polasky, S., Church, A., Lonsdale, M., Larigauderie, A., Leadley, P.W., van Oudenhoven, A.P.E., van der Plaat, F., Schröter, M., Lavorel, S., Aumeeruddy-Thomas, Y., Bukvareva, E., Davies, K., Demissew, S., Erpul, G., Failler, P., Guerra, C.A., Hewitt, C.L., Keune, H., Lindley, S., Shirayama, Y., 2018. Assessing nature's contributions to people. Science (80-.). 359, 270 LP-272. doi:10.1126/science.aap8826
- EC European Commission, 2018c. A Clean Planet for all A European strategic long-term vision for a prosperous, modern, competitive and climate neutral economy.
- EC European Commission, 2018a. A sustainable Bioeconomy for Europe. Strengthening the connection between economy, society and the environment. Updated Bioeconomy Strategy. Luxembourg. doi:10.2777/478385
- EC European Commission, 2018b. Raw materials scoreboard European innovation

partnership on raw materials. Publication Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. doi:10.2873/686373

- EC European Commission, 2018d. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Commettee of the Regions. A European Strategy for Plastics in a Circular Economy. COM/2018/028 final.
- EC European Commission, 2018e. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Commettee of the Regions on a Monitoring Framework for the Circular Economy. COM/2018/029 final.
- EC European Commission, 2018f. Commission Staff Working Document. Report on Critical Raw Materials and the Circular Economy. SWD(2018) 36 final.
- EC European Commission, 2017a. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions on the 2017 list of Critical Raw Materials for the EU. COM/2014/0398 final.
- EC European Commission, 2017b. European Innovation Partnership on Raw Materials: Annual Monitoring Report 2016, EUR 28839. ed. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. doi:10.2760/057300
- EC European Commission, 2017c. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Commettee of the Regions. Establishing a European Pillar of Social Rights. COM/2017/0250 final.
- EC European Commission, 2017d. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee, the Committee of the Regions and the European Investment Bank. Investing in a smart, innovative and sustainable in.
- EC European Commission, 2016a. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Commettee of the Regions. Next steps for a sustainable European future European action for sustainability. COM/2016/739 final.
- EC European Commission, 2016b. Commission Staff Working Document. Key European action supporting the 2030 Agenda and the Sustainable Development Goals. SWD/2016/390 final.
- EC European Commission, 2016c. Raw materials scoreboard European innovation partnership on raw materials. Luxembourg. doi:10.2873/85546
- EC European Commission, 2015a. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. A Global Partnership for Poverty Eradication and Sustainable Development after 2015. COM/2015/44 final.
- EC European Commission, 2015b. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Commettee of the Regions. Closing the loop An EU action plan for the Circular Economy. COM/2015/0614 final.
- EC European Commission, 2014. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Commettee of the Regions. For a European Industrial Renaissance. COM/2014/014 final.
- EC European Commission, 2013. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the

Commettee of the Regions. A new EU Forest Strategy: for forests and the forest-based sector. COM/2013/0659 final.

- EC European Commission, 2011a. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Commettee of the Regions. A resource-efficient Europe – Flagship initiative under the Europe 2020 Strategy. COM/2011/0571 final.
- EC European Commission, 2011b. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Roadmap to a Resource Efficient Europe. COM(2011) 571.
- EC European Commission, 2010a. An Integrated Industrial Policy for the Globalisation Era Putting Competitiveness and Sustainability at Centre Stage COM/2010/614 final.
- EC European Commission, 2010b. Communication from the Commission. Europe 2020 A strategy for a smart, sustainable and inclusive growth. COM(2010)2020 final.
- EC European Commission, 2008. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council. The raw materials initiative: meeting our critical needs for growth and jobs in Europe. COM(2008)0699 final.
- Environmental Law Alliance Worldwide, 2010. Guidebook for evaluating mining projects EIAs. Eugene, USA.
- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA), 2013. Green jobs and occupational safety and health: Foresight on new and emerging risks associated with new technologies by 2020. Publications O"ce of the European Union, 2013, Luxembourg. doi:10.2802/39554
- European Union, 2017a. New European Consensus on Development "Our world, our dignity, our future". Joint Statement by the Council and the Representatives of the Governments of the Member States Meeting within the Council, the European Parliament and the European Commission.
- European Union, 2017b. Regulation (EU) 2017/821 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 May 2017 laying down supply chain due diligence obligations for Union importers of tin, tantalum and tungsten, their ores, and gold originating from conflict-affected and high-ri.
- European Union, 2016. Shared Vision, Common Action: A Stronger Europe A Global Strategy for the European Union's Foreign And Security Policy.
- European Union, 2009. Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for the setting of ecodesign requirements for energy-related products (Text with EEA relevance).
- European Union, 2006. Joint statement by the Council and the representatives of the governments of the Member States meeting within the Council, the European Parliament and the Commission on European Union Development Policy: The European Consensus (2006/C 46/01).
- Eurostat, 2017a. Sustainable Development in the European Union. Overview of progress towards the SDGs in an EU context. Luxembourg.
- Eurostat, 2017b. Sustainable development in the European Union Monitoring report on progress towards the SDGs in an EU context (2017 edition). Luxembourg.
- Eurostat, 2014. Data Collection Manual for the OECD/Eurostat Joint Questionnaire on Inland Waters Tables 1 8, Concepts, definitions, current practices, evaluations and recommendations. Version 3.0.
- FAO, 2012. Towards the future we want. End hunger and make the transition to sustainable agricultural and food systems. Rome.

- Fleming, D.A., Measham, T.G., 2015. Income Inequality across Australian Regions during the Mining Boom: 2001–11. Aust. Geogr. 46. doi:10.1080/00049182.2015.1020596
- Global Witness, 1998. A Rough Trade. A seminal Global Witness report on the role of diamonds in funding the Angolan civil war.
- Grassi, G., House, J., Dentener, F., Federici, S., den Elzen, M., Penman, J., 2017. The key role of forests in meeting climate targets requires science for credible mitigation. Nat. Clim. Chang. 7, 220.
- Haglund, D., Roe, A., Ericsson, M., Hodge, A., 2014. The role of mining in national economies. 2nd edition. International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM), London, UK.
- Hayes, K., Perks, R., 2012. Women in the artisanal and small-scale mining sector of the Democratic Republic of the Congo, in: Lujala, P., Rustad, S.D. (Eds.), High-Value Natural Resources and Peacebuilding. Earthscan, London, pp. 529–544.
- Hentschel, T., Hruschka, F., Priester, M., 2002. Global Report on Artisanal & Small-Scale Mining.
- Hestin, M., Chanoine, A., Menten, F., 2016. Circular Economy Potential for Climate Change Mitigation.
- Hilson, G., 2002. An overview of land use conflicts in mining communities. Land use policy 19, 65–73. doi:10.1016/S0264-8377(01)00043-6
- Huisman, J., Botezatu, I., Herreras, L., Liddane, M., Hintsa, J., Luda di Cortemiglia, V., Leroy, P., Vermeersch, E., Mohanty, S., van den Brink, S., 2015. Countering WEEE illegal trade (CWIT) summary report, market assessment, legal analysis, crime analysis and recommendations roadmap. Lyon, France.
- Hurley, P.T., Emery, M.R., McLain, R., Poe, M., Grabbatin, B., Goetcheus, C.L., 2015. Whose urban forest? The political ecology of foraging urban nontimber forest products. Sustain. Glob. City Myth Pract. Isenhour, C., McDonagh, G., Checker, M., Eds 187–212.
- ILO, 2005. Code of practice on safety and health in the iron and steel industry. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Ingram, V., Awono, A., Schure, J., 2017. NWFPs help to generate income for poor households. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, Italy.
- International Council of Minerals and Metals (ICMM), 2013. Adapting to a changing climate: implications for the mining and metals industry. International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM), London, UK.
- International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM)., 2018. Mining: Partnerships for Development Toolkit. International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM), London, UK.
- Jenkins, K., 2014. Women, mining and development: An emerging research agenda. Extr. Ind. Soc. 1, 329–339. doi:10.1016/J.EXIS.2014.08.004
- Jungmeier, G., Merl, A., McDarby, F., Gallis, C., Hohenthal, C., Petersen, A.-K., Spanos, K., 2001. End of use and end of life aspects in LCA of wood products–Selection of waste management options and LCA integration. Life cycle Assess. For. For. Prod. 1–4.
- Karsenty, A., Vermeulen, C., 2017. Toward. Int. For. Rev. 19, 101–113.
- Kitula, A.G.N., 2006. The environmental and socio-economic impacts of mining on local livelihoods in Tanzania: A case study of Geita District. J. Clean. Prod. 14, 405–414. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2004.01.012

- Kleijn, R., van der Voet, E., Kramer, G.J., van Oers, L., van der Giesen, C., n.d. Metal requirements of low-carbon power generation. Energy 36, 5640–5648.
- Kolstad, I., Søreide, T., 2009. Corruption in natural resource management: Implications for policy makers. Resour. Policy 34, 214–226. doi:10.1016/j.resourpol.2009.05.001
- Kumah, A., 2006. Sustainability and gold mining in the developing world. J. Clean. Prod. 14, 315–323. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2004.08.007
- Lahiri-Dutt, K., 2015. The feminisation of mining. Geogr. Compass 9, 523–541.
- Lambin, E.F., Meyfroidt, P., 2011. Global land use change, economic globalization, and the looming land scarcity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 3465–72. doi:10.1073/pnas.1100480108
- Lauri, P., Havlík, P., Kindermann, G., Forsell, N., Böttcher, H., Obersteiner, M., 2014. Woody biomass energy potential in 2050. Energy Policy 66, 19–31. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.11.033
- Le Quéré, C., Andrew, R.M., Friedlingstein, P., Sitch, S., Pongratz, J., Manning, A.C., Korsbakken, J.I., Peters, G.P., Canadell, J.G., Jackson, R.B., 2017. Global carbon budget 2017. Earth Syst. Sci. Data Discuss. 1–79.
- Loayza, N., Rigolini, J., 2016. The Local Impact of Mining on Poverty and Inequality: Evidence from the Commodity Boom in Peru. World Dev. 84, 219–234. doi:10.1016/J.WORLDDEV.2016.03.005
- Lozeva, S., Marinova, D., 2010. Negotiating gender: Experience from Western Australian mining industry. J. Econ. Soc. Policy 13, 7.
- Lundgren, K., 2012. The global impact of e-waste: Addressing the challenge. International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva, Switzerland.
- Mactaggart, F., McDermott, L., Tynan, A., Whittaker, M., 2018. Exploring the broader health and well-being outcomes of mining communities in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review. Glob. Public Health 13, 899–913. doi:10.1080/17441692.2016.1240821
- Mair, C., Stern, T., 2017. Cascading Utilization of Wood: a Matter of Circular Economy? Curr. For. Reports 3, 281–295. doi:10.1007/s40725-017-0067-y
- Mancheri, N.A., Sprecher, B., Deetman, S., Young, S.B., Bleischwitz, R., Dong, L., Kleijn, R., Tukker, A., 2018. Resilience in the tantalum supply chain. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 129, 56–69.
- Mancini, L., Sala, S., 2018. Social impact assessment in the mining sector: Review and comparison of indicators frameworks. Resour. Policy. doi:10.1016/j.resourpol.2018.02.002
- Mancini, L., Sala, S., Wittmer, D., Pennington, D., n.d. Sustainable Development Goals: knowledge development on the social dimension of raw materials, in: WRF (Ed.), World Resource Forum 2017.
- Marchi, E., Chung, W., Visser, R., Abbas, D., Nordfjell, T., Mederski, P.S., McEwan, A., Brink, M., Laschi, A., 2018. Sustainable Forest Operations (SFO): A new paradigm in a changing world and climate. Sci. Total Environ. 634, 1385–1397.
- Marin, A.B., Kuriakose, A.T., 2017. Gender and sustainable forest management: entry points for design and implementation.
- McDermott, C.L., Irland, L.C., Pacheco, P., 2015. Forest certification and legality initiatives in the Brazilian Amazon: Lessons for effective and equitable forest governance. For. Policy Econ. 50, 134–142. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2014.05.011
- McKay, D., 2005. Reading remittance landscapes: Female migration and agricultural

transition in the Philippines. Geogr. Tidsskr. J. Geogr. 105, 89–99. doi:10.1080/00167223.2005.10649529

- McLain, R.J., Poe, M.R., Urgenson, L.S., Blahna, D.J., Buttolph, L.P., 2017. Urban nontimber forest products stewardship practices among foragers in Seattle, washington (USA). Urban For. Urban Green. 28, 36–42.
- Mehlum, H., Moene, K., Torvik, R., 2006. Institutions and the resource curse. Econ. J. 116. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0297.2006.01045.x
- Mikesell, R.F., 1997. Explaining the resource curse, with special reference to mineralexporting countries. Resour. Policy 23, 191–199.
- Northey, S.A., Mudd, G.M., Saarivuori, E., Wessman-Jääskeläinen, H., Haque, N., 2016. Water footprinting and mining: Where are the limitations and opportunities? J. Clean. Prod. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.07.024
- OECD, 2016a. Corruption in the Extractive Value Chain: Typology of Risks, Mitigation Measures and Incentives, OECD Devel. ed, OECD Development Policy Tools. OECD Publishing, Paris. doi:10.1787/9789264256569-en
- OECD, 2016b. Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas. Third Edition. Paris.
- Owen, J.R., Kemp, D., 2015. Mining-induced displacement and resettlement: a critical appraisal. J. Clean. Prod. 87, 478–488. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.09.087
- Oyarzún, J., Oyarzún, R., 2011. Sustainable development threats, inter-sector conflicts and environmental policy requirements in the arid, mining rich, northern Chile territory. Sustain. Dev. 19, 263–274. doi:10.1002/sd.441
- Peluso, N.L., Purwanto, A.B., 2018. The remittance forest: Turning mobile labor into agrarian capital. Singap. J. Trop. Geogr. 39, 6–36.
- Pierce Colfer, C.J., Basnett, B.S., Elias, M., 2016. Gender and forests: Climate change, tenure, value chains and emerging issues, Gender and Forests: Climate Change, Tenure, Value Chains and Emerging Issues. doi:10.4324/9781315666624
- Porro, R., Lopez-Feldman, A., Vela-Alvarado, J.W., 2015. Forest use and agriculture in Ucayali, Peru: Livelihood strategies, poverty and wealth in an Amazon frontier. For. Policy Econ. 51, 47–56. doi:10.1016/J.FORPOL.2014.12.001
- Rametsteiner, E., Simula, M., 2003. Forest certification—an instrument to promote sustainable forest management? J. Environ. Manage. 67, 87–98. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4797(02)00191-3
- Reeson, A.F., Measham, T.G., Hosking, K., 2012. Mining activity, income inequality and gender in regional Australia. Aust. J. Agric. Resour. Econ. 56, 302–313.
- Sachs, J.D., Warner, A.M., 2001. The curse of natural resources. Eur. Econ. Rev. 45, 827– 838. doi:10.1016/S0014-2921(01)00125-8
- Seymour, F., Busch, J., 2016. Why forests? Why now?: The science, economics, and politics of tropical forests and climate change. Brookings Institution Press.
- Smith, K.R., 2006. Health impacts of household fuelwood use in developing countries. UNASYLVA-FAO- 57, 41.
- Spinelli, R., de Arruda Moura, A.C., da Silva, P.M., 2018. Decreasing the diesel fuel consumption and CO 2 emissions of industrial in-field chipping operations. J. Clean. Prod. 172, 2174–2181.
- Spohr, M., 2016. Human Rights Risks in Mining: A Baseline Study.
- Strohbach, M., Haase, D., Kronenberg, J., 2016. Urban green space availability in European cities. Ecol. Indic. 70, 586–596. doi:10.1016/J.ECOLIND.2016.02.029

Switzer, J., 2001. Armed Conflict and Natural Resources: The Case of the Minerals Sector.

- Tantalum-Niobium International Study Center (T.I.C.), 2018. Tantalum for health 2018.
- UN General Assembly, 2017. Global indicator framework for the Sustainable Development Goals and targets of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.
- UN General Assembly, 2015. Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. New York United Nations.
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), World Economic Forum (WRF), Columbia Center on Sustainable Investments (CCSI), Sustainable Development Solutions Network, 2016. Mapping Mining to the Sustainable Development Goals: An Atlas. Cologny/Geneva Switzerland.
- United Nations Environment Programme International Resources Panel (IRP-UNEP), n.d. Mineral Resource Governance in the 21st Century: Gearing extractive industries towards sustainable development (forthcoming).
- van der Ploeg, F., 2011. Natural Resources: Curse or Blessing? J. Econ. Lit. 49, 366–420.
- Veiga, M.M., Scoble, M., McAllister, M.L., 2001. Mining with communities, in: Natural Resources Forum. Wiley Online Library, pp. 191–202.
- Vira, B., Wildburger, C., Mansourian, S., 2015. Forests and food: addressing hunger and nutrition across sustainable landscapes. Open Book Publishers.
- Wan, M., Lähtinen, K., Toppinen, A., 2015. Strategic transformation in the value-added wood products companies: Case study evidence from China. Int. J. Emerg. Mark. 10, 224–242.
- Wang, L., Chen, S.S., Tsang, D.C.W., Poon, C.-S., Shih, K., 2016a. Recycling contaminated wood into eco-friendly particleboard using green cement and carbon dioxide curing. J. Clean. Prod. 137, 861–870.
- Wang, L., Chen, S.S., Tsang, D.C.W., Poon, C.S., Shih, K., 2016b. Value-added recycling of construction waste wood into noise and thermal insulating cement-bonded particleboards. Constr. Build. Mater. 125, 316–325.
- Weldegiorgis, F.S., Ali, S.H., 2016. Mineral resources and localised development: Qmethodology for rapid assessment of socioeconomic impacts in Rwanda. Resour. Policy 49, 1–11. doi:10.1016/j.resourpol.2016.03.006
- World Bank, 2011. The World Bank Group framework and IFC strategy for engagement in the palm oil sector.
- World Energy Council, 2016. World Energy Resources. Bioenergy 2016.
- WRAP, 2015. Economic Growth Potential of More Circular Economies.
- WWF, 2012. Living Forests Report. Gland, Switzerland.
- Zal, N., Bariamis, G., Zachos, A., Baltas, E., Mimikou, M., 2017. Use of Freshwater Resources in Europe 2002-2014. An assessment based on water quantity accounts. Magdeburg: European Topic Centre on inland, coastal and marine waters.
List of figures

Figure 1 UN Sustainable Development Goals	3
Figure 2 RMIS 2.0 structure	6
Figure 3 Indicators and thematic clusters of the 2016 Raw Materials Scoreboard	7
Figure 4 The forest products value chain (Source: WWF, 2012)	9
Figure 5 Aluminium supply chain (Source: RMIS)1	LO
Figure 6 Potential contributions of raw materials to the SDGs along the supply chain. Chapter 4 describes the links with each SDG and related indicators in detail	12

List of tables

Table 1 Examples of EU policies and potential contribution to SDGs 49)
Table 2 List of climate-related EU regulation, relevant for raw materials sectorssustainability56	5
Table 3 SDGs monitoring indicators (UN and EUROSTAT frameworks) that may be affected by raw materials activities (over their supply chain); related indicators in the	_
Kaw Materials Scoreboard	3

GETTING IN TOUCH WITH THE EU

In person

All over the European Union there are hundreds of Europe Direct information centres. You can find the address of the centre nearest you at: $\frac{http://europea.eu/contact}{http://europea.eu/contact}$

On the phone or by email

Europe Direct is a service that answers your questions about the European Union. You can contact this service:

- by freephone: 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (certain operators may charge for these calls),
- at the following standard number: +32 22999696, or
- by electronic mail via: <u>http://europa.eu/contact</u>

FINDING INFORMATION ABOUT THE EU

Online

Information about the European Union in all the official languages of the EU is available on the Europa website at: http://europa.eu

EU publications

You can download or order free and priced EU publications from EU Bookshop at: http://bookshop.europa.eu. Multiple copies of free publications may be obtained by contacting Europe Direct or your local information centre (see http://europa.eu/contact).

The European Commission's science and knowledge service Joint Research Centre

JRC Mission

As the science and knowledge service of the European Commission, the Joint Research Centre's mission is to support EU policies with independent evidence throughout the whole policy cycle.



EU Science Hub ec.europa.eu/jrc

🥑 @EU_ScienceHub

f EU Science Hub - Joint Research Centre

in Joint Research Centre

EU Science Hub



doi:10.2760/026725 ISBN 978-92-76-08385-6